City and County of Swansea

Notice of Meeting

Cyngor Abertawe You are invited to attend a Meeting of the
Swansea Council
e

Scrutiny Working Group - Tethered Horses
At: Committee Room 5 - Guildhall, Swansea
On: Wednesday, 31 January 2018
Time: 10.00 am

Convenor: Councillor Jeff Jones

Membership:

Councillors: C Anderson, M Durke, J A Hale, O G James, Y V Jardine, P Jones,

B J Rowlands, RV Smith, G J Tanner, D W W Thomas, L J Tyler-Lloyd, L V Walton
and T M White

Agenda
Page No.

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests
www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests

3  Public Questions
Questions must relate to matters on the open part of the Agenda of the
meeting, and will be dealt with in a 10 minute period

4 Tethered Horses Update 1-4
e Peter Richards - Manager for Building Control, Trading
Standards, Burials Cremations and Registration Services
e Mark Thomas — Cabinet Member for Environment Services

5 Update from Agencies
e Friends of Swansea Horses
e RSPCA

6 Background Reading 5-67
1. Round and Round — Original report from Friends of Swansea

Horses

Letter to Cabinet Member 20t April 2016

Response from Cabinet Member 10t May 2016

Letter to Cabinet Member 20t June 2016

Extracts from Scrutiny Programme Committee letter and

Al


http://www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests

Cabinet Member Mark Childs response
6. Letter to Cabinet from David Grimsell of FOSH
7. Response to David Grimsell from Cabinet Member Mark Child

“ﬁ?w Lo

Huw Evans
Head of Democratic Services
Contact: Scrutiny - 637732

{0\{{- Cyngor Abertawe
Ny Swansea Council
w—__-—-_-—.___



Agenda Item 4

¢
S

Cyngor Abertawe
Swansea Council

e

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment Services

Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group

31st January 2018

The keeping of horses on tether

on public land in Swansea

Purpose:

Content:

Councillors are
being asked to:

Lead Councillor:

Lead Officer

Report Author:
Legal Officer:

Finance Officer:

To provide an update on how the Authority has dealt
with the issue of horses that are tethered on public land.

This report provides an update of the actions taken by
the Council and it's partners and the current situation in
relation to horses tethered on public land.

This report will be of interest to Elected Members,
animal welfare organisations and members of the public.
The report will demonstrate the Councils continued role
in protecting local communities and the welfare of
animals.

Consider the report as part of their continued review of
horses being tethered on public land in Swansea

Councillor Mark Thomas — Cabinet Member for
Environment Services

Peter Richards Manager for Building Control, Trading
Standards, Bereavement and Registration Services.

Peter Richards
Sandie Richards

Aimee Dyer

1. Background

1.1 There has been a long tradition in Swansea of tethering horses on
public land. This practice tends to happen in urban areas particularly
on public land associated with the Authorities Council estates. The
Council does not permit horses to be kept on public space, however

Page 1




1.2

1.3

1.4

there are a number owners that continue to tether their horses without
permission.

In 2015 /16 this authority was asked to respond to a petition from an
animal welfare pressure group who were seeking to prevent horses
from being kept on Council land without permission. This matter was
referred for scrutiny following which it was agreed that interested
parties should work together in order to bring about a reduction in the
number of horses, a reduction in tethering and protection of the welfare
of the horses

Tethering a horse is not illegal, however there is a code of practice
which should be observed by the owner. The Council has statutory
responsibilities for horses in respect of their identification under the
Equine Identification (Wales) Regulations 2009. This requires that
horses are properly identified with a “passport” and for horses born
since 2009 with an electronic chip inserted under the skin.

Other applicable legislation is the Control of Horses (Wales) Act 2014.
This Act contains statutory powers in terms of “Fly Grazing”. The
Council has adopted these powers which are utilised when it is
necessary to consider impounding, which is usually when a horse is
contributing to a public risk, a nuisance or on a public highway.

1.5 The powers of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 are also utilised in cases

1.6

2.1

where horses have suffered neglect. These powers are also exercised
by partner organisations such as the RSPCA.

Council officers respond to complaints from the community involving
horses which may be endangering the public or suffering from neglect.
These officers are specialists in terms of animal welfare and are able to
make measured judgements on the condition of horses before deciding
whether it is necessary to intervene on the grounds of welfare.

Working in Partnership

In order to bring about a reduction in incidents of tethering and welfare
it was necessary to work in partnership with interested parties.

Organisations targeted to drive improvements were —

The RSPCA

CHAPS (POBL)

FOSH (Friends of Swansea Horses)
Lluest Horse and Pony

Pettifor Trust

Page 2



3.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Agreed Actions

e It was essential that all “hotspot” areas where horses were being
tethered without permission were identified and documented.
Identify sanctuary space for unwanted / impounded horses.
A process to educate owners was needed, to ensure that they
clearly understood the needs of their horses and their legal
responsibilities.

e Improve signage at known “hotspots” which stated clearly that
horses were not permitted.

e Impound horses on public land without permission.

e Take action using regulatory powers in appropriate cases.

e Use the press and PR to reinforce messages about horses kept
on land without permission.

e Create a “Swansea Equine Forum” made up of partners which
meets 2/3 times a year to maintain communication and
improvement.

¢ Investigate setting up a community facility on land identified by
the Council to be used to assist In the education of owners
without access to land.

The Current Position

Hotspot areas have been identified and action taken to inform the
public that horses are not permitted. These locations are now
monitored on a monthly basis. The number of horses across these
locations has reduced by sixty percent since May 2016.

The Council has developed a knowledge of horse owners and is
targeting individuals in a proportionate manner to seek improvement in
co-operation which may involve them renting or taking possession of
private land with permission to use for their horse.

Education was within the remit of CHAPS which unfortunately has
disbanded. However prior to CHAPS being disbanded contributions
were made to assist in improving knowledge of owners and
improvements in horse identification by way of horse passports.

Signs have been posted by Council staff to raise awareness that
permission to use land is not granted.

The Council has continued to impound horses using powers under the
Control of Horses (Wales)Act 2009.

Regulatory action is being taken in a proportionate manner by the
RSPCA and the Council.

Page 3



4.7

4.8

4.9

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

PR is used by each organisation to convey appropriate messages and
collective messages have been used in appropriate circumstances.

Swansea Equine Forum has been established and has met four times.

Land was identified by the Council that may be suitable for a
community grazing scheme but CHAPS has been disbanded so no
proposal has been brought forward by them, although one of the
former lead figures of CHAPS is still trying to raise funding to assist in
establishing a place of sanctuary.

Legal Implications

The Council has statutory responsibilities for horses in respect of their
identification under the Equine Identification (Wales) Regulations 2009.
This work is undertaken to minimise the risk caused to the general
public and to deal with the abandonment of neglected horses.

Legal action is taken where considered appropriate in the
circumstances when owners are identified. This can include advice and
guidance, use of formal improvement procedures and in the worst
cases prosecution for identification and welfare issues.

There are proactive programmes of work in place in addition to a
reactive response to the general publics’ complaints which are both
designed to make individuals aware of their responsibilities, which help
reduce the impact on communities and safeguard the welfare of
horses.

Financial Implications

There is no dedicated budget for this type of work which continues to
be a considerable drain on council resources. Service costs are
estimated to be approximately £60,000. Approximately £4000 pounds
in fees are recovered from horse owners.

Background papers: “Round and Round” Tethered horses in Swansea a

report by Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH).

Appendices: None

Page 4



Agenda Iltem 6

Round and Round:
Tethered Horses in Swansea

A report by Friends of Swansea Horses

May 2015

Page 5
1



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Round and Round:
Tethered Horses in Swansea

A report by Friends of Swansea Horses

May 2015

of Swanseg H,
"Ai"::&“ Est 2014 Seg
F.0.5.H

Putting Horses First

Friends of Swansea Horses is a voluntary organisation
dedicated to improving the welfare of all horses across
Swansea. It is funded entirely by donations.

Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH)
P.O. Box 65

Lampeter

SA48 9BJ

FOSH2014@outlook.com

FOSH (May 2015) Page 6


mailto:FOSH2014@outlook.com

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Acknowledgements

Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH) would like to acknowledge the help and
contributions of many people towards the compilation of this report. Council officers
and councillors from several authorities provided very useful details of initiatives that
had been taken in their authorities to address horse tethering. These included
particularly Kate Ainger of Hartlepool Borough Council, Councillor lan Swithenbank of
Northumberland County Council and Emily Griffiths, Horse Warden for Cardiff County
Council. Inspector Martin Peace provided a great deal of information relating to the
joint initiative taken by Durham Police and Durham County Council. FOSH are
grateful for advice from Dr. Kelly Yarnell of Nottingham Trent University in the
sourcing of academic references relating to horse welfare. We would also like to
express our particular thanks to all of those individuals who completed our petitions
and who provided so many, unfortunately often distressing, details of observations of
tethered horses in their own communities.

We are very grateful to Marianne Pettifor and Jon Dyer of the Pettifor Trust for
supporting FOSH with grants that have helped enable us to campaign on horse
welfare issues. Funds have also been collected by many local businesses in
Swansea including pubs, local stores and others who were each kind enough to hold
collecting tins — FOSH are most grateful for this support. We are grateful too to
Karen Procter of Swansea Council for Voluntary Services (SCVS) who has provided
clear and helpful advice relating to operating as a voluntary organisation. We would
like to thank Byron Davies, M.P. for his support and encouragement to address the
problems of horse tethering in Swansea. We wish to acknowledge the essential work
and commitment of the RSPCA who often have to deal with the distressing effects of
tethering and neglect. In particular, FOSH recognise with thanks the sustained work
of Chief Inspector Romain de Kerckhove and Inspector Neil Manley in tackling the
suffering of horses in and around Swansea. Finally, both we and Swansea owe a
very great debt to Hillside Animal Sanctuary which, in the last year alone, has
rescued and is now taking care of for life 170 impounded horses from Swansea,
many of which were previously tethered.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 7



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

‘It is easy for bad to become normal.’

Temple Grandin — world authority on animal welfare.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 8



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Contents

Executive summary

1 Introduction

2 The welfare of tethered horses in Swansea — some illustrations
3 The welfare impacts of tethering

4 Associated problems of tethering

5 Public concern

6 Council case studies

7 Recommendations

8 Sources

Appendix 1 — South Wales Evening Post, September 6™ 2000.

Appendix 2 — Public spaces protection order.

Appendix 3 — Council costs in dealing with horse-related incidents.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 9

Page

(oe]

16

24

26

29

33

35




Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Executive Summary

1 Tethering of horses is widespread across Swansea on public spaces. Horses are
kept in situations such as small areas of green space, by roadsides, on derelict sites,
on community amenities including playing grounds, in alleyways and sometimes
gardens. These horses are often kept tethered for lengthy periods of time, extending
into months or longer. There is very considerable public concern about this. The high
prevalence of tethered horses has been an issue for a very long time. Newspaper
reports from the year 2000 (see Appendix 1), for example, highlight significant
concerns with tethered horses across Swansea then. Little appears to have changed.

2 Two recent academic studies®** (published in 2012 and 2014) of horses tethered in
Swansea and South Wales identified significant welfare concerns. These concerns
included that over 80% of such horses did not have ready access to water or shelter
from the elements, while less than 3% were observed to be provided with more than
5 minutes off-tether exercise per day. Tethered horses were observed to exhibit
poorer mood, less activity and to have higher incidences of minor injuries and
lameness.

3 The scientific literature on horse welfare affirms that tethering severely constrains
the natural behaviour of a horse. It prevents active movement and choice, it prevents
social contact and grooming, and it prevents flight in the event of threat or attack. The
restraint of tethering is associated with ‘learned helplessness’, where an animal loses
motivation, does not experience positive emotions and becomes depressed.
Tethered horses are, further, vulnerable to attack and abuse.

4 The Welsh Government Code of Practice on the Welfare of Equines’ states,
‘Tethering may be useful as an exceptional short-term method of animal
management during brief stops during a journey, to prevent danger to the animal, or
to humans, whilst proper long-term arrangements are made, or in medical cases
where short-term restriction of food intake is required under veterinary advice’
(Section 1.17, p.20). Yet the majority of horses tethered in Swansea are kept not only
in breach of the requirements of the Code but, as a matter of course, for lengthy
periods.

5 The tethering of horses in Swansea creates a number of further adverse effects.
These include loss of community amenities, exacerbation of blight and reduced
visual amenity, risks to the public from tethers and horses themselves and, in some
cases, a local culture of intimidation around the ownership of horses. The latter
creates potential flashpoints for violent incidents. There is a high level of public
concern about these issues and horse welfare.

6 The widespread and sustained occurrence of tethering of horses on public land has
been facilitated by the ready availability of very cheap horses, the ease with which
horses are obtained without resources to care for them and the availability of what is
perceived as ‘free’ livery in the form of grazing on public land. This creates a
repetitive cycle of acquisition, tethering, neglect and abandonment. Where the
Council does intervene, the failure to address the core problem means that the cycle
starts again. The costs of keeping a horse are high, estimated at minimum to be
£3,000 per annum per horse for the most basic grass livery?. Those without the
resources to fund this may acquire horses cheaply and then fail to provide proper
care.

7 Considerable on-going costs are created for the local authority when the tethering
of horses leads to seizure: for instance, where risks arise of accidents involving

FOSH (May 2015) Page 10
6



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

horses that have broken free, or there is complaint about nuisance, or in cases of
severe evident welfare harms. These costs include, amongst others, the costs of
responding to complaints, of attempting to locate owners, of collection and
impounding of horses, and of euthanasia and carcase disposal. In 2014 alone,
Swansea City and County Council received 664 complaints relating to horses and
seized 225 horses, at a minimum estimated cost of £73,992 (see Appendix 3).

8 Over the three-year period 2012 to 2014 the Council euthanised 224 horses that
were seized (82 in 2012, 73 in 2013 and 69 in 2014). That is, the horse-related
problems in Swansea, and the Council response to them, have also ‘cost’ the lives of
all these horses. The use of euthanasia as a mechanism of control in place of
addressing core problems is unacceptable.

9 In 2014, Hillside Animal Sanctuary accepted over 100 horses that had been seized
by Swansea City and County Council. The Sanctuary incurred approximately £7,500
in costs of transporting the horses (from Swansea to Norfolk). The estimated annual
cost to the Sanctuary for the care of each horse is about £2,000. These costs
continue year-on-year for the lifetime of a horse. Continuing horse-related problems
in Swansea have therefore created costs for this rescue organisation that is
committed to protecting the lives of horses of likely in excess of £200,000 per annum.
The costs are met entirely through donation by the public. It is unacceptable that
horse-related problems that have not been addressed locally are being addressed by
others in this way, through failure to take effective preventative action.

10 The approach of the local authority to date has been reactive. It has never
adopted a clear and coherent policy to proactively address horse-related problems or
the particular issue of tethered horses. This has meant the welfare problems have
continued, public distress and concern has remained high, and annual financial costs
to the authority have not reduced.

11 The issue of tethered horses is a problem for many authorities. A number -
including West Hartlepool, Durham and York - have adopted proactive strategies to
address this, with much success. In every case, a critical element has been the
development of effective partnership working on a sustained basis between an
authority and other agencies such as the Police, Fire Service, Highways Authority
and the RSPCA.

12 It is recommended that Swansea City and County Council seeks urgently to set
up a multi-agency forum that meets regularly to fully assess the situation, appraise
the costs caused and to identify effective solutions with horse welfare paramount in
all considerations. The determinations of this group should inform Council policy on
response to and management of illegally grazed horses. It is suggested that advice
be sought from other authorities which have had success in addressing these issues.

13 It is recommended that such a forum may consider possible approaches
highlighted in this report including, inter alia: adoption of a zero-tolerance approach to
tethering; mapping of the problem including identification of horses involved; the use
of ‘public spaces protection orders’ to prevent tethering; communication of
expectations by a suitable media and education campaign; support for passporting,
microchipping and neutering; the impounding and rehoming through sanctuary of
horses where necessary; the establishing of strong links with rescue organisations;
the making available of suitable Council-managed licensed grazing facilities with
required conditions for tenure; and the appointment of a dedicated Swansea horse
warden.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 11
7



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

1 Introduction

1.1 Horses are widely kept on tethers across Swansea. Very often horses are found
tethered on small areas of public spaces in urban areas, on greens associated with
supermarkets, schools and playing fields and also on paths and in alleyways
adjacent to properties. In the vast majority of cases the owners have no permission
to keep them there. Tethered horses are found kept on tethers for significant periods
of time — for days, weeks, months or even years. There is very significant public
concern about the tethering of horses and a great deal of frustration amongst
Swansea residents that it occurs and has occurred for so long.

1.2 This report provides evidence of the welfare problems associated with the
tethering of horses across Swansea. It presents documentary evidence of the
tethering of horses in a range of situations as illustrations of the welfare problems
caused. It also presents the results of studies of the welfare of tethered horses
across Swansea and South Wales, and sets this in the context of the broader
scientific literature relating to horse needs and horse welfare.

1.3 This report also examines the further consequences of the keeping of tethered
horses on public spaces. These consequences can include loss of amenity to local
communities, exacerbation of blight and often a culture of local intimidation. When
horses are obtained cheaply and without resources for their care, tethering on public
spaces as a kind of ‘free livery’ encourages its continuation. A consequence in many
cases is a cycle of purchase, tethering without adequate care, neglect and
abandonment. The costs fall directly on the Council and, where impounding occurs,
often also on rescue organisations that take on the long-term costs of care of horses.

1.4 The problems associated with horse tethering on Council and other land — as a
form of ‘fly-grazing’ — are not unique to Swansea. In fact, in recent years, many
authorities across the United Kingdom have encountered problems. A number of
authorities have adopted proactive strategies to prevent problems continuing, to
reduce risks, pre-empt costs and to protect the welfare of horses. Examples of some
of these initiatives are presented and some suggested recommendations for action
provided. In every case in this report, where intervention has proved successful, a
critical element has been the partnership working between various agencies. Friends
of Swansea Horses hope that this report may prove a catalyst for the development of
committed partnership working between Swansea City and County Council and other
agencies to achieve solutions to the problems of tethering, for the benefit of the
Swansea community, but more particularly for the benefit of the horses who have
suffered too long and for whom it is about time they were put first.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 12
8



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

2 The welfare of tethered horses in Swansea — some illustrations

2.1 Horses are kept tethered across Swansea in a wide range of situations. Very
often small areas of public land such as patches of grass, or accessible areas of
greenery, are taken advantage of to keep a horse by putting them on a tether.
Formally, no ‘permission’ is granted for this by the local authority, but the practice is
extensive and has occurred for many years without authority intervention in most
cases. The nature of tethering and its effects on welfare are firstly illustrated here
using a number of photographs of tethered horses in Swansea. All the images have
been taken in the last year. In Section 3, a fuller discussion is provided of the
evidence of welfare harms associated with the practice of tethering.

Figure 1: Horses are often kept with improvised heavy halters linked to a short

chain. The horse may suffer neck abrasion and soreness and even risk strangulation.
Horses may be impaled on tethering points. Here the horse is prevented from moving
from the tether point and interacting with other horses. This horse is 6 months of age.

Figure 2: Horses are often tethered wherever there is accessible land which
includes on roadside verges. Such horses are highly limited in the range of
movement possible and may be at risk from traffic or pedestrians.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 13
9



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 3: The tethering of horses will frequently interfere with their ability to express
natural behaviour. Here a mare is prevented from interacting properly with her foal
and is at risk of distress and entanglement if she seeks to pursue the foal or
becomes anxious about it - for example, if the foal is approached.

(Below) A foal is separated from its mother, who is kept on a tether.

SN Y |
'Q' "
LTl g

g

FOSH (May 2015) Page 14
10



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 4: A tether often severely restricts the scope for movement and means the
horse necessarily repeatedly treads a confined area, potentially reducing it to a
muddy mess with little or no effective forage. Most often in such situations, a horse
will not be provided with ready access to water and will be exposed to the elements
without shelter it can access.

Figure 5: Tethered horses experience restricted movement and cannot make
choices to respond to their environment. Their environment is limited and will most
often lack stimulation and variety. Horses may be tethered in situations which put
them at risk of abuse from which they cannot escape. Tethering, as here with a tether
tied to a lamppost and running across a public footpath, can also create risks to the
public, including children.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 15



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 6: A tether precludes anything other than repetitive motion at the limit around
the radius of the length of the tether. Not only does this restrict movement, prevent
response to the elements and create health risks (for example, rainscald), but it
progressively reduces the quality of forage - to the extent of creating compacted
and/or barren muddy areas. Again, accessible water is seldom supplied, nor is
sufficiently frequent movement to fresh grazing areas.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 16
12



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 7: Tethering often occurs in exposed situations, which are subject to marked
variation in weather conditions and without adequate shelter.

Figure 8: Horses are at risk from exposure to the elements not only when it is cold
and wet but also during hot periods. Shelter needs to be provided and would
ordinarily be sought by a horse, but they are prevented from doing this on a tether.
As seen here, the horse is unable to access shade — the location of which varies in
the course of the day - and the limited water provided is out of reach of the horse.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 17
13



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 9: Horses are highly social animals. Where horses are kept on a tether
interaction is prevented. Across Swansea there are many instances where individual
horses are being kept in isolation for days, weeks or months at a time, as in the case
of the Shetland below. While Shetlands are hardy, the provision of a limited coat is
not sufficient to protect the welfare of the horse, and being kept in isolation
disregards their social, emotional and behavioural needs.

Figure 10: Tethering limits the horse in multiple ways and can create depression.
Horses may be tethered (as below) in situations which are highly exposed, are
barren, and dispose them not only to mental health problems, but also to physical
health problems with hooves, coat and eyes (amongst others).

FOSH (May 2015) Page 18



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Figure 11: Tethered horses are vulnerable to abuse from which they cannot
escape. In 2014, a woman was filmed repeatedly kicking a tethered horse in Blaen-
Y-Maes:

Figure 12: Horses tethered may simply be neglected and provided with no
veterinary care when it is required. This horse experienced suffering for some period
while tethered alongside a property and - after being reported by concerned local
residents - required to be euthanised.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 19
15



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

3 The welfare impacts of tethering

The tethering of horses by definition involves the keeping of a horse attached to a
tether such that its movement is restricted. This restriction may have a number of
impacts including on a horse’s activity and behaviour, on its opportunities for social
contact, on its experience of its environment, and potentially on its mental and
physical welfare.

Studies of tethered and free-ranging horses in Swansea and South Wales

Two recent studies®* have provided evidence of how tethered horses in Swansea
and the broader south Wales area are kept and how their welfare compares with that
of free-ranging horses in similar environments. The first study compared the
treatment and welfare of 37 tethered and free-range horses at a single site in
Swansea, observing both over a period of six weeks, focusing on physical welfare.
The second involved more detailed observations over a six-month period of 170
horses at four locations across south Wales, assessing both physical and mental
welfare.

3.1 Food and water

3.1.1. The body condition of tethered horses observed was generally within a
reasonable range suggesting that despite limited access to food, most horses
received adequate nutrition. However, about 13% of horses were found to be too thin
and about 8% overweight. In about 10% of cases, there was a lack of grass cover
and in 35% of these, insufficient provision of other forage.

3.1.2 Water was not available on a regular basis in over 80% of cases. The authors
of the first study noted, ‘When water was available this was mainly in the form of
standing water on fields or agricultural drainage ditches’ (p.597). And, ‘During the
observational period, only 2 horses were offered fresh water by their carer. On 3
separate occasions horses were observed to break free from their tether and each
time the horse headed first to drink from the water source in the area’(p.596). In the
second study, it was noted, ‘Almost three-quarters of the time tethered horses were
offered a bucket of water (ie as part of the study) they drank at least some of
it.(p.33). The study found water was no more likely to be provided in hot conditions
than at other times.

3.1.3 With free access to water horses will drink several times a day®, with a
requirement of approximately 5 litres of water per 100 kg weight®. This implies a
typical 500 kg horse would be expected to drink 25 litres per day of water®. The lack
of ready access to water is a severe welfare hazard for these horses.

3.2 Shelter

3.2.1 Shelter from extremes of weather was seldom provided for the tethered horses.
The authors of the first study noted, ‘No tethered horses were provided with shelter.
There was limited shelter on the site; only a few trees and banks that could act as
wind-breaks’(p.597). And concluded, ‘The lack of shelter is a serious welfare concern
and improving access to shelter for these animals might significantly improve their
welfare’ (p.597). The second study found shelter from wind was available on only
16.5% of occasions, from rain, on only 14.5%, and from sun, on only 12.5% of
occasions. This compared unfavourably with the situation of free-range horses who
were almost always able to access shelter from wind, rain and sun. Both tethered
and free-ranging horses were rarely observed wearing a rug.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 20
16



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

3.2.2 Under ordinary circumstances feral or free-ranging horses will actively seek
shade and other types of refuge®’. They seek dry areas during wet, cold weather and
shade in hot weather. A number of studies 97 have shown that horses seek shelter
especially when it is windy and wet, though wind alone also increases time spent by
horses in shelter. Snow, and very cold temperatures combined with wind, are
strongly linked to horses seeking shelter. Both mares and foals are particularly likely
to seek it”. The lack of opportunity for tethered horses to seek suitable shelter
compromises their welfare®’.

3.3 Physical condition

3.3.1. Both tethered and free-ranging horses were found to have high incidence of
rain-scald. The first study authors noted, ‘One of the most significant problems
observed was the high percentage of rain-scald. ...This condition is both painful and
can be pruritic’ (p.597). There was no attempt to treat these animals’. Instances of
eye discharge were common, particularly so in tethered horses. Tethered horses
showed a higher incidence of hoof cracks, higher levels of lameness, more frequent
signs of limb pain and greater incidence of minor injuries®*. The lack of exercise
associated with tethering contributes to the development of significant hoof damage
and cracks, as roaming over distance (likely at least 5 km per day) is necessary for
hoof health to be maintained®. Of tethered horses observed with minor injuries, in
only one case throughout the first study period was such an injury treated. It was
further noted, 'There was no evidence of hoof-care such as by a farrier during the 6-
week period of observation’ (p.597).

3.4 Exercise

3.4.1 Exercise provision for tethered horses was minimal. While in about 80% of
cases, there was evidence that the tether site for a horse was moved every 24 hours,
the extent of exercise observed was the movement from one site to another. Though
round the clock observation was not possible, in no cases in the first study was it
observed that tethered horses received off-tether exercise of more than 5 minutes
each day, while it was observed in less than 3% of cases throughout the six-month
period of the second-study. While horses were tethered they spend most time
standing. The authors noted, ‘The reduction in walking, trotting and cantering and
increase in standing when alert observed in tethered horses suggests that there is a
shift from active to inactive behaviours in tethered horses compared to free-range
horses™* (p.35). And, 23.5% of the tethered study population were less than 2.5 yrs
old. Across both tethered and free range observations these young animals were
more likely to be seen walking, lying, playing and being involved in friendly
interactions than older horses. Most of these behaviours which are more important to
young than older horses may be significantly compromised by tethering’ (Mustang
Report?°, Table 8).

3.4.2 Feral horses are free-ranging and forage widely, spending a large proportion of
time grazing®?. The feral horse grazes relatively slowly and keeps on the move with
short periods at rest?®. They may potentially cover up to 80 kilometres per day in
seeking forage and feeding'?. They use a full range of gaits and movement including
walking, trotting, cantering and galloping®. The behaviour of feral horses is a guide to
the exercise needs of domestic horses?.

3.4.3 Where horses’ behaviour and exercise are restricted they show significantly
increased stress-related behaviours®. Horses will actively choose opportunities to
exercise if previously restricted or confined®. If confined and prevented from

expressing natural behaviour and movement they have been shown to react with

FOSH (May 2015) Page 21
17



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

increased activity when let out, including trotting, cantering and bucking®?’. This
occurs to a greater extent the longer a horse has been kept in confinement?.
Confinement in stalls specifically has been shown to lead to increased stress even
where there is opportunity for social contact, reflected in both physiological and
behavioural measures®'%%. Tethering creates equivalent or greater restriction of
movement, prevents exercise and limits the range of gaits a horse can choose to
use.

3.5 Social contact

3.5.1 The local studies did not specifically examine social contact between horses,
but the tethering of a horse substantially restricts its opportunity to interact with other
horses. Social interaction and contact are very important to horses as a large number
of studies have shown, with social isolation being consistently associated with signs
of stress®'%'"17_ Feral horses are seldom solitary during their life. Preferred
attachment between certain individuals is invariably found in feral and free-ranging
horses, not only between dam and foal but also among peers of all ages and
genders™. Individually-stabled horses (compared to those pair- or group-housed)
show higher levels of stress-related behaviours including vocalisations, neighing,
pawing and increased likelihood of stereotyped behaviour'®. They also show higher
levels of stress-related hormones®°.

3.5.2 An important activity for horses which is precluded by tethering is mutual
grooming. This occurs commonly in horses with the opportunity to do so and not only
helps coat maintenance, but reduces social tension and provides reassurance
following social contact!'. Horses are very sensitive to physical contact reacting, for
example, to pressures that are too light for humans to feel'?. Social contact is also
important for play between horses, which is not only rewarding but builds social,
survival and communication skills'”. Play may involve running, frolicking, chasing,
bucking, jumping, prancing, leaping, manipulation of an object, play-fighting and play
sexual behaviour, and is important in adulthood as well as for foals'.

3.5.3 The social isolation and prevention of free association and interaction between
horses associated with tethering is very likely to create frustration and stress and to
compromise welfare. This is likely to be particularly so for younger horses, where
opportunity to, run, play and interact socially is especially important.

3.6 Mental well-being

3.6.1 Tethered horses were found to be substantially unresponsive to approach by a
person, in the majority of cases turning or moving neither towards nor away from an
approaching person. This contrasted with the behaviour of free-ranging horses which
tended to actively move away. Ratings of general demeanour and mental welfare of
horses indicated significantly lower mood scores for tethered horses compared to
free-ranging. The inference that tethered horses’ mental welfare was likely to be
poorer was reinforced by observations of far more frequent vocalisations by them,
occurring more than four times as often as for free-ranging horses. The authors of
the second study concluded, “...the differences related to tethering such as fewer
observations of walking, trotting and cantering, increased vocalisations, and poorer
mood scores indicate that the behavioural restrictions of tethering are likely to
adversely affect welfare’ (p.36).

3.6.2 The impression conveyed by the observations of both the academic studies
and of the many anecdotal reports of tethered horses in Swansea is that of the
horses often being in a depressed state. The observed behaviours appear to

FOSH (May 2015) Page 22
18



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

correspond to those of ‘learned helplessness’, which has been found in many
species where an animal is subject to sustained stress from which it cannot escape™.
Learned helplessness is characterised by apathy, depressed mood and lack of
pleasure as well as suppression of behaviour. Learned helplessness is known to
have physiological correlates, being associated with severe inhibition of the
neurotransmitter dopamine in particular areas of the brain when behavioural
responses to stress are prevented'.

3.6.3 One of the most important causes of learned helplessness is restraint’®. The
primary feature of a tether is that it restrains the horse and restricts its movement. As
discussed above, this will prevent the horse from being able to make choices (e.g. to
seek shelter), to actively exercise, and to engage freely in social interaction with
other horses. All of these are things that evidence shows a horse is motivated to do
and will experience frustration and distress if prevented. It is highly likely that horses
will display signs of learned helplessness when tethered.

3.7 Summary - the welfare impacts of tethering

3.7.1 Feral horses are social, herd animals which are free-roaming and pasture-
grazing. In their natural environment they have to adapt to environmental changes
and challenges for their survival. Compared to their feral relations the diversity of
behaviour observed in tethered horses (as with stabled horses) has been
dramatically altered® 67 Tethering causes social isolation and restricts horses in
movement and behavioural options, reduces environmental stimulation and is
associated with elevated levels of stress.

3.7.2 Table 1 below provides a comparison of five different husbandry systems for
horses (including tethering) with respect to the extent to which each system provides
opportunities for the range of a horse’s behavioural needs to be met. The comparison
provides ratings for each of ‘feral’, ‘small pasture’, ‘large pasture’ and ‘stalled alone’
on the basis of expert judgement by Kiley-Worthington'” following review of the
scientific literature on horse welfare. In light of the evidence discussed and reviewed
above, an additional rating for ‘tethering’ has been included here against each
behavioural need. This extended analysis indicates that tethering provides very little
opportunity for the expression of a horse’s physical, social, emotional and cognitive
needs. Drawing on the evidence relevant to impacts of tethering, the analysis implies
that the welfare of a tethered horse is compromised in similar, and perhaps more
severe, ways to that of a horse kept alone in a stall — a system that has come under
extensive criticism for the welfare harms associated with itS.

3.7.3 Since horses have evolved to live in social groups and to spend the majority of
their time seeking and consuming a wide variety of forages, it is unsurprising that
denying them the opportunity to express these behaviours is detrimental to their
welfare'>'”. The evidence is overwhelming that it is so for horses kept tethered.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 23
19



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Table 1: Evaluation of the opportunity to meet behavioural needs afforded by
different horse husbandry systems. (After Kiley-Worthington, 2011,p.109/10)"7.

Horse Husbandry System

Behavioural Need Feral Large Small Stalled Tethered

pasture pasture alone
Physical needs
Sufficient exercise; 5 5 3 0 0
move as far as he/she
wants
Perform all gaits 5 5 3 0 0
Feed always available 1-4 5 4-5 0-1 2-5
Water always 2-4 5 5 5 0
available
Can groom all body 5 5 5 2-4 2-3
parts
Shelter always 1-3 4-5 5 5 0
available
Treatment of ailments 0 5 5 5 3-5
Social needs
Free contact with 5 5 0-2 0-1 0
others
Mixed age groups 5 5 0 0 0
Constant group 4-5 4-5 0 0 0
Mothering and being 5 5 0-3 0 0
mothered
Natural weaning 5 5 0 0 0
Emotional needs
Experience wide 5 5 0-2 0-2 0-1
range of emotions
Cognitive needs
Opportunity to learn 5 2-4 0-2 0-2 0-2
Allowed to make 5 5 0-3 0-3 0-1
choices
Acquire ecological 5 2-4 0 0 0
knowledge
Acquire social 5 3-5 0 0 0
knowledge
Opportunities to solve 5 3-5 0-2 0 0
problems
Interesting/changing 5 3-5 1-4 0 0
environment

Key: Ratings: 0 = no opportunity, to 5 = maximum opportunity.
Feral: wild equine populations in unenclosed or very large fenced areas.

Large pasture: groups of at least five individuals, with at least one stallion, females and young

of all ages, in areas of over 10 ha, with shelter and fed when required.
Small pasture: horses kept isolated in small pastures of less than 1ha.

Stalled alone: horses tied in lines for at least 8 hrs per day, able to see and touch neighbours,

but without freely-available fibre food.
Tethered: horses kept on a long-line tether.

FOSH (May 2015)

Page 24
20




Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

3.8 The Code of Practice on the Welfare of Equines and the tethering of horses.

3.8.1 It is sometimes implied or stated that, ‘the tethering of horses is not illegal’.
While this is strictly true - in the sense that there is no statute in the United Kingdom
that specifically prohibits the tethering of horses as there is, for example, for the
tethering of pigs under farm animal welfare regulations - it is misleading. The Animal
Welfare Act, 20068 requires that anyone responsible for an animal must ensure that
it does not experience unnecessary suffering and that its behavioural needs are met.
In Wales, the Code of Practice for the Welfare of Equines’ details the requirements
for the lawful keeping of horses consistent with the Animal Welfare Act (AWA),
including with respect to tethering.

3.8.2 The Code of Practice has legal status. The Preface to the Code states, ‘This
Code explains what you need to do to meet the standard of care the law requires’.
Where a person does not comply with a provision of the Code they are not
automatically liable to prosecution (AWA, Section 14(3)). However, failure to comply
with any provision may be relied on in court as tending to establish liability for an
offence (AWA, Section 14(4)). Part 2 of the Wales Code of Practice for the Welfare of
Equines includes a section specifying requirements under the Act for the tethering of
horses. Failure to comply with any of the provisions when tethering a horse tends to
establish liability for an offence.

3.8.3 The Code states, ‘Tethering is not a suitable method of long-term management
of an animal, as it restricts that animal’s freedom to exercise itself, to find food and
water, or to escape from attacks by dogs or the extremes of hot and cold weather. It
also risks an animal becoming entangled, or injuring itself, on tethering equipment.
Tethering may be a useful as an exceptional short-term method of animal
management during brief stops during a journey, to prevent danger to the animal, or
to humans, whilst proper long-term arrangements are made, or in medical cases
where short-term restriction of food intake is required under veterinary advice. The
need for regular supervision is paramount’. (Section 1.17, p.20).

3.8.4 The evidence obtained in the studies of tethered horses in Swansea and South
Wales shows that, in almost all cases, the tethered horses observed were kept in
breach of provisions of the Code. In many cases the breaches will undoubtedly have
created unnecessary suffering. Implicitly, the majority of those tethering horses in this
area are likely to be formally in breach of the AWA. Table 2 below details breaches
that were observed and their extent.

3.8.5 The position that tethering is an acceptable form of management of a horse
only in exceptional circumstances and only over the short-term is echoed by the
views of relevant welfare organisations. For example, The tethering of horses and
ponies is covered within the ‘frequently asked questions’ section of the RSPCA
website where they state that they are ‘not in favour of tethering’ and that ‘tethering is
not suitable for the long-term management of an animal due to the physical

restriction and increased risk of poor welfare caused by tethering’ ™°.

3.8.6 The second local study?® examined knowledge of those keeping both tethered
and free-ranging horses. They found a very limited understanding and familiarity with
the requirements of the AWA and the associated Code for equines. The authors
state, ‘Whatever the wording of the Code of Practice it needs to be communicated to,
and understood by, the owners of tethered horses who are ultimately expected to act
in accordance with it. The lack of knowledge of the existence of the Code of Practice
reported by owners in this study indicate that attempts to raise awareness about the
Code of Practice have so far been unsuccessful’ (Mustang Report?°, Table 8).

FOSH (May 2015) Page 25
21



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Table 2: Adherence to the Code of Practice on Welfare of Equines for horses
observed in Swansea and South Wales3*2,

Code of Practice Condition

Extent of adherence to the Code

A: Suitability of the animal

Young animals. Horses under two years
should not be tethered

Mares should not be tethered near
stallions

The tethering of stallions should be
undertaken only with great care and as
a temporary measure.

Tethered animals should not be tethered
around free-roaming animals

Almost 25% of horses were estimated to
be less than 2.5 years old. 10% of
tethered horses were mares with foals.

Stallions were observed frequently to be
present.

62% of tethered horses were male. Of

these, 36.4% were stallions.

In almost 60% of occasions free-roaming
horses were present at the same site.*

B: Site (the area to which the tethered
animal has access)

The site should be reasonably level,
have good grass cover, and be free of
any objects, natural or man-made, which
could ensnare the tether

A site in which a high proportion of the
herbiage consists of weeds is not
suitable

The site should not have anything on it
which might injure an animal

On only 20% of occasions were horses
kept on a level site. Over 50 % of horses
were kept on sloping ground. In 10% of
occasions the tether was observed to be
entangled. In 10% of cases grass cover
was poor.

In over 10% of instances there was a
high proportion of weeds. During 36% of
observations tethered horses had access
to ragwort.

In over 50% of instances there were
objects that could potentially injure the
tethered horse.

C: Tethering equipment

Either a well-fitting leather head-collar, or
a broad leather neck strap must be used.
These should be fitted with a 360° swivel
device where the chain is attached.

The ground stake must not protrude
above ground level.

In almost 90% of instances there was no
swivel where the chain was attached.

In over 70% of occasions the ground
stake protruded above ground level.

* the study* authors noted though, that ‘positive interactions were observed between free-
ranging and tethered horses indicating that the presence of compatible companions could be

beneficial to welfare’ (p.36).

FOSH (May 2015)

Page 26
22




Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Table 2 : Adherence to the Code of Practice on Welfare of Equines for horses
observed in Swansea and South Wales (continued)

Code of Practice Condition

Extent of adherence to the Code

D: Food and water

If the grass is not sufficient for the
animal’s needs, sufficient forage food
should be available throughout each day.

Water should be made available on a
frequent and regular basis throughout the
day in a spill-proof container.

In 35% of instances sufficient forage was
not provided where grass cover was
poor.

In 90% of cases water was not available
on a frequent and regular basis.

E: Shelter

Animals should not be exposed to the full
heat of the sun, to heavy rain, snow or
hail, or to strong winds for other than
very short periods. In extremes of
weather shelter should be provided.

Shelter should, at a minimum, provide
shade from the sun and from severe
wind. In prolonged rain, a well-drained
area must be available.

In over 80% of cases shelter was not
available. Horses were rarely observed
wearing a rug.

In over 80% of cases shelter was not
available from sun, wind or rain.

F: Exercise

Animals must be given freedom to
exercise off the tether for a reasonable
period at least once a day.

Less than 3% of tethered horses were
observed to be provided with more than
5 minutes off-tether exercise per day.

G: Supervision

Tethered animals require a high level of
supervision, and should be inspected no
less frequently than six-hourly intervals
during normal waking hours.

Inspection every 6 hours was observed
for only 33% of horses. (Constraints on
round-the-clock observation mean a
higher percentage may have received
visits with this frequency).

H: Identification

All tethered animals should be marked in
such a way as to be permanently
identifiable, and from this identification
the keeper or owner should be able to be
readily contacted.

No horses were marked in such a way
that they were readily identifiable or in a
way which enabled an owner to be
readily contacted.

I: Other requirements

They may need protection from ill-
intentioned persons.

Tethered horses seldom visited are at
risk of abuse

FOSH (May 2015)

Page 27
23




Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

4 Associated problems of tethering
4.1 Vulnerability of tethered horses to abuse

4.1.1 The Welsh Government Code of Practice on Tethering (see above) states,
‘They (tethered horses) may need protection from ill-intentioned persons (Section I,
p.53)’. Yet with tethered horses left frequently without supervision for substantial
periods of time, and often not even inspected every 6 hours as the Code at minimum
requires, the potential for abuse is high. The horse is a flight animal and would
ordinarily run to avoid threat - but the tether prevents this. The inability to escape
perceived threat may also contribute to anxiety.

4.1.2 A number of disturbing reports of cruelty and abuse of tethered horses across
Swansea have occurred in recent years. This includes an incident in 2014,
documented by photograph and video, of a woman repeatedly shouting at and
violently kicking a tethered horse. This horse is understood to have been found dead
a few days afterwards. There have been a number of South Wales Evening Post
articles documenting serious abuse of tethered horses since 2010 alone?".

Elsewhere in the United Kingdom reports of abuse of tethered horses have frequently
occurred. For example, Hartlepool Borough Council noted ‘incidents of horses in
Hartlepool having anti-freeze poured over them and of youths filming each other
punching and kicking tethered horses’ %,

4.1.3 The ‘Mustang Report?® presented the results of an interview study of the
attitudes of the owners of tethered horses in Swansea and South Wales. Owners of
tethered horses, for example, recorded that horses 'were vulnerable to attack by
young people. who not only frightened the animals deliberately but have cut off
manes and tails, driven vehicles at the horses on the common causing fatal injuries
and set dogs on them, causing fatal injuries to the muzzle area of the horse. In May
2010 a fire was deliberately set near to a tethered horse and the animal had to be
humanely destroyed after suffering terrible burns’. In response to a question asking
about the worst aspects of owning horses, one owner stated, for example,: “We get a
lot of hassle from the RSPCA keeping them [horses] here. Also people treat them
terrible. The kids on their motorbikes frighten them. | had one hit by a car a lovely
stallion he was and the kids cut the mane and tail off.’

4.2 Harms to the community

4.2.1 The tethering of horses on public spaces in Swansea is often detrimental to the
local community which lives there. Frequently, green spaces and areas intended for
general community use and/or designed to enhance the appearance of an area are
used by those seeking to tether horses. In some instances, a single individual may
be responsible for keeping many tethered horses on public spaces. The tethering on
public spaces provides in effect a limited, ‘free’ livery but can interfere with the ability
of other members of the community to make use of these spaces. Swansea City and
County Council has stated that it ‘does not give permission’ for such tethering, but
the Council nonetheless has allowed it to occur widely.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 28



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

4.2.2 ltis frequently observed and is now widely documented by photographic
evidence, that areas exploited for the tethering of horses are associated locally with a
more general degradation of the area, including dumping of waste, high levels of litter
and increasing damage to the aesthetic value of a site. The picture below is of a
horse tethered (in Blaen-y-Maes, Swansea) to a lamppost and adjacent to a footpath.
Areas in Swansea particularly affected in this way include Blaen-y-Maes, Morriston,
Penlan, Clase and Townhill. The occurrence of tethering may be viewed as a
contributory factor towards an area experiencing ‘blight’.

4.2.3 The tethering of horses on public spaces in Swansea also creates potential
risks to the public. There is the potential for entanglement and tripping over tethers
which, on average, extend to 20 feet or more. In the above photograph the tether is
attached to a lamppost and extends across the footpath. In an incident in 2014 in
Bonymaen, where horses have been regularly observed to break off tether, a 3-year-
old child was reported to have been kicked in the head when attempting to pick up a
chain. By failing to prevent risks arising by appropriate and timely intervention a local
authority may be legally liable.

4.2.4 The tethering of horses, without authorisation, and on public spaces intended
for the broader use of the local community, is frequently associated with intimidation
and threat. There is widespread public concern about tethering (see next section) but
Friends of Swansea Horses has received many reports that if the issue is raised by a
local resident there can be threat of intimidation. The allowing of tethering on public
spaces under these circumstances creates tension in a community and may create
flashpoints for violent incidents.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 29
25



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

5 Public concern

5.1 There is a very high level of public concern about the tethering of horses in
Swansea. This is reflected, for example, in the numbers of complaints relating to
horses in the area. A Freedom of Information request revealed that in 2014 there
were 664 complaints relating to horses made to the Trading Standards Section of
Swansea City and County Council. It is understood a high proportion of these related
to citizens’ concerns about tethered horses. Each such report has to be logged and
recorded and in many instances will necessitate an investigation by Council Officers
at cost to the authority.

5.2 During a campaign to address the problem of tethered horses in Swansea,
Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH) undertook a series of public awareness events
in the City centre over a period of about three months. On each occasion, the high
level of public concern was palpable. During the events, FOSH representatives were
actively approached by several hundred Swansea citizens volunteering to sign a
petition. In instance after instance, people in the City centre related incidents of
suffering of horses they had observed at locations across Swansea. The overriding
impression gained was of intense frustration that tethering was occurring and had
been allowed to do so for so long.

5.3 Following the awareness events, Friends of Swansea Horses was able to submit
to the Council a petition - of over 2000 signatures - pressing for the ending of
tethering on public spaces across Swansea. Additionally, 1000 individual campaign
postcards were distributed and we understand that, at minimum, several hundred,
have been received by the Leader of the Council. We understand further that a
corresponding petition of 1700 signatures was earlier collected in 2013 across
Swansea by the Pettifor Trust and submitted to Byron Davies, A.M.(now M.P.).

5.4 A small sample of written comments provided by citizens of Swansea during the
petition process is given below (over 380 such comments were supplied):

FOSH (May 2015) Page 30
26



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Comments of Swansea citizens concerning the tethering of horses in Swansea.

‘This is a cruel practice that has to stop ...these horses are often left with no food or
water or a chain too short to enable them to get to the water. Swansea needs to
clean up its act!’ Glenda

‘This is barbaric in this day and age. I'm still waiting to get my first horse and will not
purchase or loan until | can keep it properly stabled or have a field for grazing.’
Catherine

‘The five welfare needs of animals, as laid down by the Animal Welfare Act, 2006,
cannot possibly be met in this kind of environment and this practice needs to stop.’
Claire

‘I think it is disgusting that horses are allowed to be kept in such dismal conditions,
normally with a poor food supply and no water.” Morgan

‘I think the current state of affairs is appalling and something needs to be done about
it Richard, Townhill

‘I'm sick of seeing children purchasing and mistreating horses around Swansea.’
Victoria

‘It's cruel. We had a tethered horse on the rugby club ground who used to kick his
water over, | used to go down fto fill it up for him. Then a dog attacked the horse and
it was removed.’ Frances

‘I think it is disgusting that people treat the horses like this. Tethering is cruel along
with keeping horses in gardens or small estates or alley ways.’ Claire, Loughor

‘There are tethered horses behind my house which is pitiful to see. In the Summer
one of them had such severe sunburn because of no shelter from the elements. All
the ‘owner’ said was its not as bad as it looks. This is not on!” Amanda, Penlan

‘I see many horses in these communities tethered up on public land, with no food or
water. Children can’t play on the land because they are afraid of the horses, or there
is manure everywhere.’ Jamie, Morriston

‘If someone makes the decision to own a horse then they should ensure that they
have the means to look after it properly. These animals should not be left to suffer
because their owners are irresponsible.’ Jennifer

‘Living in a large Council estate, horse tethering is abundant! My concern is not for
the look of the estate but for the welfare of the animals. No shelter is provided,
horses are left with no comfort, and often get loose and wander, leaving them
vulnerable to accidents.” Dawn

‘Horses in Mayhill and Townhill are in poor condition and frequently wandering
dangerously, one poor horse has its back hooves tethered to its front hooves so it
can’t walk properly’. Rhiannon

‘Whenever | see a horse tethered there is never any water, no hay and no shelter for
these poor animals.” Emily

FOSH (May 2015) Page 31
27



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

‘It is long overdue that the Council put an end to this barbaric practice taking place on
public land. Get your act together Swansea Council.” Jacqui

It is absolutely disgusting the way some horses are tied up in Blaen-Y-Maes. The
animals are depressed.” Rob, Blaen-Y-Maes

‘Even if they were kept well, they are often chained near pathways that get covered
with their poo. I've also experienced one charging at me and my dog and on one
occasion my mother was even given a kick.’ Abigail

1live in an area where horses are chained on public land on small green areas and
in parks! These horses have no shelter, no water or food buckets, no exercise, no vet
treatments, and go hours or even a day where no-one has turned up to care for the
horse. Some are ridden with no correct shoes, no saddle, just a piece of rope around
its neck! Something needs to be done!’ Kate, Tre-boeth

‘Horses should never be tethered.’ Anne

‘I work in this area and it breaks my heart to see these poor animals tied up. It’s not
natural - its cruelty.’ Lisa

‘I wish to end this cruel and barbaric and totally unnecessary practice, which is
unbelievable that it is happening in the year 2014. Shameful.’ Douglas

‘I see this on a daily basis and the horses are in an awful and disgusting condition. It
needs to be stopped.’ Katherine, Townhill.

‘I'm signing because | am sick of seeing these poor animals suffer on a daily basis
with no access to fresh water and the only food they have is scraps of muddied grass
they try to eat.” Dominique

‘I'm fed up with the open and widespread cruelty of these horses being left, often
tethered tightly by the neck, left in dangerous, inappropriate public places. They have
no water, no shelter, are denied the close proximity of their own kind for warmth and
security — these are herd animals after all. They are left unchecked for days or weeks
on end in mud and their own droppings. They have no way of protecting themselves
from harm, like dogs, motor bikes, human tormentors and such-like. Yet people pass
this cruelty daily along footpaths, roads, derelict and waste land. Even in parks and
football fields. Stop turning a blind eye and making Swansea look like it couldn’t care
less because this is not true!’ Lorraine, Sketty

‘The horses tethered are usually left alone all day and night, in poor conditions with
no care. Mistreated animals left on display while we just walk past saying and doing
nothing. It’s disqusting. Put an end to it.” Daniel, Townhill

‘I am fed up of seeing horses treated poorly. Came home from school run, had left
my house for all of 5 minutes and someone had tied their horse to a tree in my
garden! They had moved my children’s garden toys to make room for the horse!’
Victoria, Blaen-Y-Maes

‘A cruel practice by those who clearly have no respect for their animals.’ Leanne

‘I know of a horse who strangled herself on one.’ Tina, Thornhill

FOSH (May 2015) Page 32
28



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

6 Council case studies

The issues associated with the tethering of horses are not unique to Swansea and
many other areas across the United Kingdom have been and continue to be affected.
Certain authorities, often in combination with other agencies, have sought to address
the problems of tethering and other horse welfare/management issues, with
considerable success. While, to a degree, the nature of the problems and their
causes varies from area to area, valuable lessons may be learned from other
authorities’ experience. Some case studies of Council actions across the United
Kingdom are presented below.

6.1 West Hartlepool

6.1.1 Hartlepool Borough Council?? reported that they had a significant problem of fly-
grazing with horses most often tethered, initially in derelict and industrial areas but
increasingly in residential and amenity areas. A survey indicated at least 150 horses
were kept in this way across the Borough. It was noted that, frequently
inexperienced and very young people become owners of horses, often with

very little knowledge of their needs and also the financial means to maintain their
welfare and daily upkeep’. (Neighbourhood Services Committee Report, 2013, 3.5).

6.1.2 Over a period of 12 months between 2012 and 2013, there were 1800 horse-
related incidents in the area dealt with by Cleveland Police. The RSPCA identified a
particular welfare problem with tethered horses. The Council also identified a number
of further risks associated with the illegal grazing of horses including safety to the
public, prevention of access to amenity areas, potential liability of the Council for
accidents or personal injury to members of the public and the potential for hostile
claims for ownership of land by possession.

6.1.3 The authority identified significant financial implications including the liability for
accidents or damage, enforcement costs (e.g. relating to call-outs), costs of picking
up and impounding horses and costs of policing. It was also noted that, ‘Some
owners have also been involved in anti-social behaviour, such as threatening and
abusive behaviour to council staff, residents and the police when dealing with their
horses, riding/driving their horses dangerously on the road and pavement to the risk
of pedestrians and road users and petty crime such as stealing horse equipment
from each other and other owners’. (Neighbourhood Services Committee Report,
2013, 3.5).

6.1.4 In 2013, Hartlepool Borough Council joined with other partner authorities and
organisations to form the North East Equine Group. A working partnership was
developed involving Council officers from various departments, Police, RSPCA and
local landowners/managers. An assessment of the numbers and locations of fly-
grazed horses was made. Notices were posted alongside each indicating they would
be removed by the Council. In most cases horses were removed by ‘owners’ in
advance of this.

6.1.4 Hartlepool Borough Council recognised unequivocally that tethering is
detrimental to the welfare of horses and state on their web-site?:

‘We have found both dead and dying horses tethered illegally on council land. The
photo shows one of the dead horses that has been abandoned by its owner for the
Council to deal with. We have also come across animals that are clearly sick or
emaciated. We have even seen heavily pregnant mares tethered.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 33
29



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Whilst some of the horses that are tethered around the town are in good physical
shape tethering does not allow horses to exhibit natural social behaviours such as
pair-bonding (making "best friends" with another horse), mutual grooming (scratching
each other's backs), or to exercise themselves’.

6.1.5 The Council has published and adopted an ‘lllegally grazed horse strategy’??
which they are continuing to pursue to address and prevent problems. The Council
adopted a ‘zero tolerance’ approach to stray, neglected and abandoned horses. The
key elements in the strategy adopted included:

o Mapping the extent and nature of the problem. This included locating,
identifying (using a standard identification record sheet) and tracking the
movements of individual horses.

o Development of response protocols.

Authority and police teams trained in horse handling, and in animal welfare

assessment by the RSPCA.

Identification of hotspots for targeted action.

Posting of notices of intended impoundment.

Following up with impoundment if horses not removed within a short period.

Information shared between Council, Police and RSPCA.

Monitoring of areas where horses had been removed to prevent problem

arising again through quick action.

Supporting landowners.

e Supporting partner organisations to pursue convictions under the Animal
Welfare Act, 2006.

e Developing a media strategy to communicate Council’s zero-tolerance
approach.

¢ Developing a licensed grazing scheme to provide grazing for horse owners.
Considering the application of anti-social behaviour legislation.

o Development of a Council web-page stating the Council’s approach.

e Provision of microchipping, passporting and castration with external funding
to assist current owners to move their horses into legitimate livery.

6.2 Durham

6.2.1 Durham County Council and Durham Constabulary have worked actively and
effectively together to address a range of problems associated with the keeping of
horses. Over 6000 reported incidents of horse-related ‘nuisance’ were reported in the
5-year period between 2007 and 2012. Key identified problems related to stray and
illegally-tethered horses, and a high level of road traffic collisions as well as direct
risks to safety of the public. Additionally, there were many public complaints about
inability to use public spaces, general horse nuisance and damage to public areas
caused by illegal grazing. An initiative was developed with the goals of reducing
demand on agencies, reducing incidents of horse nuisance and improving the
welfare of horses.

6.2.2 A number of solutions were developed on a partnership basis. These included
a range of elements, some examples of which are given below:

o Formation of a ‘horse management focus group’.

e Mapping the extent and nature of the problem.
¢ Increasing the impoundment budget.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 34
30



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

o Developing an impoundment procedure — including targeted, intelligence-led
impoundments.

e Use of covert surveillance to identify offenders.

¢ Providing cheap passports, micro-chipping and castration vouchers with
funding obtained from the Local Multi Agency Problem-solving Group (LMAP)
and the British Horse Society (BHS).

o Requiring horse passports for any grazing arrangement.

¢ Considering a ‘grazing reference’ scheme whereby those adhering to certain
conditions while grazing horses by arrangement on Council land, would
receive a ‘reference’ that might be presented to other land-owners.

e Media campaign.

¢ Running a ‘horseman’s’ educational evening.

6.2.3 Outcomes to date have included:

64 horses impounded

Over 500 horses passported and micro-chipped.

Focus on specific ‘target individuals’ to prevent straying

Regular meetings between partners to share intelligence and agree joint

action.

e Public reassurance increased with horse issues no longer a PACT (Police
and Communities Together) priority for the Constabulary.

¢ Average horse nuisance incidents reduced significantly — across Durham

from 31 reported incidents per week to 7 per week.

6.3 York

In December 2012, City of York Council introduced a policy on the tethering of
horses?. They identified key horse-related problems as: loose or stray horses which
pose a risk to danger to the public or highway users; unlawful grazing on public or
private land (fly-grazing); horse welfare concerns; and nuisance damage caused by
horses on private land. They recognised at the outset that a ‘multi-agency approach’
was needed to tackle these.

The authority has adopted an approach which includes provision of licensed grazing
land with clear conditions for granting of licences. These include prior checks that an
applicant is not disqualified as a result of welfare offences, that horses are
appropriately passported and microchipped, that the DEFRA Code of Practice for
horse welfare is adhered to, that the lessee has relevant insurance and that lessees
take full financial responsibility for any damage caused.

City of York Council has also sought to liaise with horse owners to reduce numbers
and where appropriate to find ways of rehoming horses by working with rehoming
charities. Protocols were developed for responding to welfare concerns and referring
to the RSPCA. Where necessary illegally tethered horses are seized with a general
presumption that tethered horses will be removed following posting of notices?.

6.4 Northumberland

Areas of Northumberland have had a long-standing problem with horses including
stray horses, horses fly-grazed on public land without authorisation and widespread
tethering of horses on public spaces. In some locations this has included over 100
horses kept tethered for periods as part of horse-dealing activities by some
individuals owning many horses. Particular concerns have been with the safety of the

FOSH (May 2015) Page 35
31



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

public and the risk of accidents and injuries caused by horses. There have been
collisions resulting in the death of both horses and, in one case, a driver. The
authority has been advised that where horses are kept on its land it is potentially
directly liable where accidents or injury occur and it has sought to pre-empt this
liability arising.

Northumberland County Council has adopted an approach of requiring that wherever
horses are kept on public land this may occur only where specific conditions are met.
Land has been obtained which is fenced off and contains sufficient natural shelter to
protect horses in most conditions and which is divided into paddocks for keeping
horses loose. Owners pay a fee to use this land. The land is located near the
residential areas where previous horse-related problems were prevalent, and its
availability has been generally well received. The Council is currently in the process
of negotiating acquisition of further land to extend licensed grazing facilities.

Where horses continue to be kept without authorisation and at risk to the community
horses are impounded with the support of a contracted bailiff company with efforts to
rehome or sell horses by auction, though in some instances horses have been
euthanised. The approach taken by the authority and its strict approach to the
keeping of horses unless conditions are met has been extensively communicated
using a range of media and publicity opportunities.

6.5 Cardiff

There has been a persistent problem with both stray horses and horses tethered on
public spaces in Cardiff for many years. However, the nature of the tethering problem
in Cardiff is substantially different from that in Swansea. The problems in Cardiff have
been associated particularly with two large travellers’ sites rather than there having
been a significant problem of fly-grazing, including tethering, in urban and residential
areas. The problem of tethering here also has a strongly seasonal aspect, with
horses being located elsewhere in winter months by the horse owners concerned.
There have been significant concerns about the welfare of tethered horses on these
sites.

City of Cardiff Council here chose to work progressively with the relevant
communities and achieved this largely through the appointment of a dedicated horse
warden for the City. Over a period of two years a dialogue was developed and
expectations communicated about care of horses kept on public spaces. In particular,
clear conditions for the tethering of horses were required for tethering of horses to
continue. These have included requirements that all horses are properly identified
with microchips as appropriate. There is an expectation that horses tethered will be
kept according to criteria specified by the National Equine Welfare Council. Where
these conditions are breached the Council will impound horses and take
responsibility for them, with no allowance for return or retethering. The Council has
provided supported microchipping, veterinary care and castration events.

The Council does not approve of or support tethering but has chosen to work with the
relevant community to achieve significant improvement in welfare standards. The
Officers involved conveyed that this process was lengthy and depended on building
trust and confidence. City of Cardiff Council has worked together with nearby
Newport City Council to address horse issues and problems associated with
movement between sites. The Council is currently investigating the potential to
provide licensed grazing or licensed ‘turnout’ facilities with certain conditions
attached and payment of a fee required.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 36
32



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

7 Recommendations

1. Swansea City and County Council should develop a written policy that proactively
addresses the issue of horse grazing on public spaces to include particular reference
to tethered horses. The purpose of the policy would be to prevent the use of public
spaces for grazing without specific authorisation, with a view to preventing the cycle
of tethering/fly-grazing— neglect— abandonment—complaint— seizure—
tethering/fly-grazing, and to ensure horse welfare is fully protected.

2. A multi-agency partnership group be set up to address horse welfare and
management issues across Swansea. This should, at minimum, include Council
officers drawn from relevant departments including Trading Standards, Estates and
others, the Police, the RSPCA and the Highways Authority and relevant Councillor
representation. The group should meet regularly to share intelligence and to develop
solutions which protect the welfare of horses and ensure that the quality of life of
residents is protected. The group and Council should seek advice from other
authorities (see Section 6 for case studies) which have had success in improving
horse welfare and management. It is suggested that contact is made, for example,
with the North East Equine Group in England for advice as one useful source.

3. The tethering of horses on public spaces should be progressively phased out, and
it should be part of the brief of the partnership group and of relevant Council policy to
achieve this. At the moment, the stated position of Swansea City and County Council
is that, ‘We do not give permission for the use of public spaces for the grazing of
horses, whether tethered or not’. However, this position has not prevented such
spaces being exploited widely and has contributed to major welfare problems and
nuisance. An explicit statement and clear mechanism for enforcement are needed to
prevent tethering on public spaces within the authority. One mechanism would be the
application of a ‘Public spaces protection order’ (or orders) under the Anti-social
behaviour, Crime and Policing Act, 201424 which provides local authorities with
relevant powers (See Appendix 2).

4. Drawing on the experience of other authorities, it is suggested that the ‘partnership
group’ should give consideration to the following elements:

o the need to properly ‘map’ the nature and extent of horse welfare and
management problems across Swansea. This should include the collection of
records of details of individual horses, their location and wherever possible
their ownership;

o the need to actively communicate the authorities stance and intentions with
respect to the use of public spaces for horse grazing through both a media
campaign and provision of relevant information on the Council website;

e the need to clearly communicate at an individual level the expectation that
horses not be kept tethered on public spaces with penalty of seizure if this is
not adhered to. The mechanism of ‘intention to impound’ notices posted at
tethering sites has proved a useful mechanism elsewhere;

¢ the need to ensure proper protocols for the assessment and protection of
horse welfare, for example, while they continue in situ. The need associated
with this for appropriate welfare training for officials by the RSPCA or
equivalent welfare body;

e the need to ensure proper training for officers in the seizure and impounding
of horses and the provision of relevant protection (e.g. Police support) where
necessaryi;.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 37



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

¢ the need to ensure proper care of horses throughout the time they are
impounded under Council responsibility;

¢ the need to anticipate mechanisms for transfer to sanctuary or re-homing
where impounding occurs. In the past, Swansea local authority has
euthanised a high proportion of horses seized without sufficient regard to
rehoming. That rehoming is possible has been demonstrated following the
intervention by Friends of Swansea Horses to enable a link with a large
sanctuary to be set up, with the majority of horses subsequently seized by the
Council rescued/rehomed. However, the goal of a Council policy should be to
pre-empt the need for such seizure by preventing horse tethering, neglect and
abandonment arising in the first place;

¢ the need to ensure maximum compliance with horse identification regulations
(e.g. regarding passporting and microchipping) wherever horses are kept in
Swansea to enhance ability to monitor and manage horses;

¢ the value of providing cheap passporting, microchipping and castration for
owners of horses in Swansea with a view to facilitating the movement of
horses to appropriate livery or grazing. Funding for this might be sought from
welfare bodies or grant-making trusts;

¢ the value of identifying relevant Council land that might be used for licensed
grazing by residents of Swansea where particular conditions are met. Such
grazing should preclude tethering — except in extreme circumstances — and
be based on division into paddocks, with appropriate shelter. A basic fee
structure and legal contract should be devised for this purpose. Consideration
might be given to providing horse owners with ‘references’ where their
horse(s) had been kept in accordance with provisions in order to facilitate
subsequent access to grazing provided by private landowners or farmers;

¢ the potential value of employing a dedicated ‘Swansea horse warden’ to
monitor horse welfare and to help facilitate the transition away from fly-
grazing on public spaces. The role might also encompass management of
any Council licensed grazing facility. It is suggested that Welsh Government
funding might be sought for this;

o the value of active communication of successes allied with a focus on the
expectation of high welfare standards for horse keepers across Swansea.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 38
34



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

8 Sources

1 Welsh Assembly Government (2008) Code of Practice for the Welfare of Equines.
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/ahw/animalwelfare/pets/codesofpracti
ce/081205equinecode/?lang=en

2 http://www.equine-world.co.uk/buying horses/cost horse.asp

3 Samuel, E.K., Whay, H.R., Mullan, S. (2012) A preliminary study investigating the
physical welfare and welfare code compliance for tethered and free-ranging horses
on common land in South Wales. Animal Welfare. 21. 593-598.

4 Mullan, S. , Szmaragd, C., Hotchkiss, J., Whay, H.R. (2014) The welfare of long-
line tethered and free-ranging horses kept on grazing land in South Wales. Animal
Welfare. 23. 25-37.

5 Ralston S.L. (1986) Feeding behavior. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine
Practice 2:609-621. Cited in Heleski, C., Cing-Mars, D., Dowling, P., Merkies, K.,
Stampfli, H., Cottee, S.Y., de Wit, J. (2012).

6 Heleski, C., Cing-Mars, D., Dowling, P., Merkies, K., Stampfli, H., Cottee, S.Y., de
Wit, J. (2012) Code of practice for the care and handling of equines: review of
scientific research on priority issues. Equine Code of Practice Scientist's Committee,
National Farm Animal Care Council (U.S.).

7 Heleski, C.R. and Mutazashvili, I. (2010) Daytime shelter-seeking behaviour in
domestic horses. Journal of Veterinary Behaviour. 5 (5) 276-282.

8 Ovnicek G.D., Page, B.T. and Trotter, G.W. (2003) Natural balance trimming and
shoeing: its theory and application. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine
Practice 19(2). 353-377. Cited in Samuel, E.K., Whay, H.R., Mullan, S. (2012).

9 Chaya, L., Cowan, E., and McGuire, B. (2006) A note on the relationship between
time spent in turnout and behaviour during turnout in horses (Equus caballus).
Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 98(1,2) 155-160.

10 Yarnell, K., Hall, C., Royle, C., Walker, S.L. (2015) Domesticated horses differ in
their behavioural and physiological responses to isolated and group housing.
Physiology and Behaviour. 143. 51-57.

11 Van Dierendonck, M. and Goodwin, D. (2005) Social contact in horses:
implications for human-horse interactions. Chapter 5. In The Human Animal
Relationship.

http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/11707/Dierendonck 05 Socialconta
ctinHorses.pdf?sequence=2

12 Compassion in World Farming. Horses: Behaviour, cognition and welfare.
https://www.ciwf.org.uk/includes/documents/cm_docs/2009/h/horse behaviour cogni
tion welfare _may09.pdf

13 Hall, C., Goodwin, D., Heleski, C., Randle, H., and Waran, N. (2012) Is there
evidence of learned helplessness in horses? Journal of Applied Animal Welfare
Science,11(3), 249-266.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 39
35


http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/ahw/animalwelfare/pets/codesofpractice/081205equinecode/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/ahw/animalwelfare/pets/codesofpractice/081205equinecode/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/ahw/animalwelfare/pets/codesofpractice/081205equinecode/?lang=en
http://www.equine-world.co.uk/buying_horses/cost_horse.asp
http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/11707/Dierendonck_05_SocialcontactinHorses.pdf?sequence=2
http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/11707/Dierendonck_05_SocialcontactinHorses.pdf?sequence=2
http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/11707/Dierendonck_05_SocialcontactinHorses.pdf?sequence=2
https://www.ciwf.org.uk/includes/documents/cm_docs/2009/h/horse_behaviour_cognition_welfare_may09.pdf
https://www.ciwf.org.uk/includes/documents/cm_docs/2009/h/horse_behaviour_cognition_welfare_may09.pdf
https://www.ciwf.org.uk/includes/documents/cm_docs/2009/h/horse_behaviour_cognition_welfare_may09.pdf

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

14 Cabib, S. (2006). The neurobiology of stereotypy II: The role of stress. In G.
Mason & J. Rushen (Eds.), Stereotypic animal behaviour: Fundamentals and
applications to welfare (2nd ed., pp.227-255). Oxon, UK: CABI. Cited in Hall et al.
(2012) (see ref.no.13).

15 Cabib, S., and Puglisi-Allegra, S. (1994). Opposite responses of mesolimbic
dopamine system to controllable and uncontrollable aversive experiences. The
Journal of Neuroscience, 14, 3333-3340. Cited in Hall et al.(2012) (see ref.no.13).

16 Flannigan, G., Stookey, J.M., 2002. Day-time time-budgets of pregnant mares
housed in tie stalls: a comparison of draft versus light mares. Applied Animal
Behaviour Science. 78 (2-4), 125-143.

17 Kiley Worthington, M. (2011) Equine psychological needs and quality of life.
Chapter 5 in C.W. Mcllwrath, and B. E. Rollin, (Eds.) Equine welfare. Chichester.
Wiley-Blackwell.

18 Animal Welfare Act 2006. http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/45/contents

19 http://www.rspca.org.uk/adviceandwelfare/pets/horses/health/tethering
http://www.politics.co.uk/opinion-formers/rspca-royal-society-for-the-prevention-of-
cruelty-to-animals/article/calls-to-the-rspca-about-tethered-horses-are-set-to-increase

20 Mullan, S. and Whay, H.R. Operation Mustang Welfare Report. University of
Bristol Veterinary School.
http://gov.wales/docs/drah/publications/110914mustangen.pdf

21 Examples of South Wales Evening Post reports on tethered horse suffering :
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/School-knew-tethered-horse/story-
20634614-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horse-Blaenymaes-neighbours-
RSPCA/story-20459127-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/s-time-stop-cruelty/story-18145245-
detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horses-left-survive-eating-bark/story-
17838578-detail/story.html

22 http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/egov_downloads/16.12.13 -

Neighbourhood Services Committee Agenda.pdf
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/100006/environment and planning/1824/tethered
horses/1

23

http://www.york.gov.uk/press/article/66/cabinet proposed policy to help tackle pro
blems with tethered horses
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s77935/Tethered%20Horses%20Policy.pdf
http://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/10306307. Horse bailiff could help tackle York

strays/

24 Anti-social behaviour, Crime and Policing Act, 2014
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted

25 DFF International Ltd. (2014) Road Haulage Association Cost Tables. The
Fuelcard Company. http://www.andersonstransport.com/documents/terms/Cost-
Tables-2014-EDITION.pdf

FOSH (May 2015) Page 40
36


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/45/contents
http://www.rspca.org.uk/adviceandwelfare/pets/horses/health/tethering
http://www.politics.co.uk/opinion-formers/rspca-royal-society-for-the-prevention-of-cruelty-to-animals/article/calls-to-the-rspca-about-tethered-horses-are-set-to-increase
http://www.politics.co.uk/opinion-formers/rspca-royal-society-for-the-prevention-of-cruelty-to-animals/article/calls-to-the-rspca-about-tethered-horses-are-set-to-increase
http://www.politics.co.uk/opinion-formers/rspca-royal-society-for-the-prevention-of-cruelty-to-animals/article/calls-to-the-rspca-about-tethered-horses-are-set-to-increase
http://www.politics.co.uk/opinion-formers/rspca-royal-society-for-the-prevention-of-cruelty-to-animals/article/calls-to-the-rspca-about-tethered-horses-are-set-to-increase
http://gov.wales/docs/drah/publications/110914mustangen.pdf
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/School-knew-tethered-horse/story-20634614-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/School-knew-tethered-horse/story-20634614-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/School-knew-tethered-horse/story-20634614-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horse-Blaenymaes-neighbours-RSPCA/story-20459127-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horse-Blaenymaes-neighbours-RSPCA/story-20459127-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/s-time-stop-cruelty/story-18145245-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/s-time-stop-cruelty/story-18145245-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/s-time-stop-cruelty/story-18145245-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horses-left-survive-eating-bark/story-17838578-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horses-left-survive-eating-bark/story-17838578-detail/story.html
http://www.southwales-eveningpost.co.uk/Horses-left-survive-eating-bark/story-17838578-detail/story.html
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/egov_downloads/16.12.13_-_Neighbourhood_Services_Committee_Agenda.pdf
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/egov_downloads/16.12.13_-_Neighbourhood_Services_Committee_Agenda.pdf
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/100006/environment_and_planning/1824/tethered_horses/1
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/100006/environment_and_planning/1824/tethered_horses/1
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/100006/environment_and_planning/1824/tethered_horses/1
http://www.hartlepool.gov.uk/info/100006/environment_and_planning/1824/tethered_horses/1
http://www.york.gov.uk/press/article/66/cabinet_proposed_policy_to_help_tackle_problems_with_tethered_horses
http://www.york.gov.uk/press/article/66/cabinet_proposed_policy_to_help_tackle_problems_with_tethered_horses
http://www.york.gov.uk/press/article/66/cabinet_proposed_policy_to_help_tackle_problems_with_tethered_horses
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s77935/Tethered%20Horses%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s77935/Tethered%20Horses%20Policy.pdf
http://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/10306307._Horse_bailiff__could_help_tackle_York_strays/
http://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/10306307._Horse_bailiff__could_help_tackle_York_strays/
http://www.yorkpress.co.uk/news/10306307._Horse_bailiff__could_help_tackle_York_strays/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted
http://www.andersonstransport.com/documents/terms/Cost-Tables-2014-EDITION.pdf
http://www.andersonstransport.com/documents/terms/Cost-Tables-2014-EDITION.pdf
http://www.andersonstransport.com/documents/terms/Cost-Tables-2014-EDITION.pdf

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

26 Visser, E.K,, Ellis, A.D. and van Reenan, C.G. (2008) The effect of two different
housing conditions on the welfare of young horses stabled for the first time. Applied
Animal Behaviour Science. 114 (3,4) 521-533.

27 Freire R., Buckley P. & Cooper J.J. (2009) Effects of different forms of exercise on
post inhibitory rebound and unwanted behaviour in stabled horses. Equine Veterinary
Journal41:487-492.

28 Davidson, H.P.B. (1999) Natural horse — unnatural behaviour: Why understanding
natural horse behaviour is important. In Harris, P.A., Gomersall, G., Davidson,
H.P.B., and Green, R. (Eds.) Proceedings of the British Equine Veterinary
Association Specialist Meeting on Nutrition and Behaviour. Equine Veterinary
Journal, 32-34.
http://www.succeed-equine.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/The-Natural-Horse-
and-Unnatural-Behaviour.pdf

29 Home Office (2014) Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act, 2014. Reform
of anti-social behaviour powers. Statutory guidance for front-line professionals.
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/35256
2/ASB_Guidance_v8 July2014 final__2_.pdf

FOSH (May 2015) Page 41
37


http://www.succeed-equine.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/The-Natural-Horse-and-Unnatural-Behaviour.pdf
http://www.succeed-equine.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/The-Natural-Horse-and-Unnatural-Behaviour.pdf
http://www.succeed-equine.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/09/The-Natural-Horse-and-Unnatural-Behaviour.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Appendix 1 — South Wales Evening Post, September 6", 2000

South Wales Evening Post

Swansea's 'urban cowboys' to be drummed out of town

Section Community | Published on 6 Sep 2000

The urban cowboy is all set to become the urban myth now that Swansea Council and the RSPCA
are renewing their efforts to combat the problem of horses in Swansea.

Horses in Swansea are a recognised problem, but form only 10% of the work of the
Environmental Health and Trading Standards Departments animal wardens. The Council has two
dedicated animal wardens with other officers available to assist them.

Horses, although beautiful animals are extremely hard to look after. They need a great deal of care
and attention with appropriate housing, feeding, fresh water and regular veterinary checks.

In Swansea, many horses are tethered with chains or enclosed on patches of wasteland. This not
only affects the welfare of the horses by not giving them adequate food or water, but can also
cause a danger to pedestrians and motorists and damage to property when they stray.

Reckless ownership and falling prices are the main causes with horses now selling for no more
than a few pounds each. Despite rigorous enforcement through impounding and the imposition of
fees the problem remains static rather than decreasing. Once impounded, the owner must pay fees
and fines of £80 for the first day and £25 stabling fees for every day after that, this however still
does not deter the irresponsible from buying a horse and keeping it in unsuitable conditions.

It is the Councils priority to offer a reactive service to the public by responding to complaints or
public concerns.over loose horses, particularly those that are on the highway. There is even an out
of hours service which react to calls from the police about loose horses on the highway. A
proactive approach has also been used where action has been taken to remove groups of horses
from a particular location at the request of the landowner.

Also concerned with the weltare of the horses impounded, the Council work closely with the
RSPCA and often provide assistance when providing evidence to prosecute cruel owners.

Director of environmental health and trading standards, John Spence, said: “There are a number of
issues to be dealt with here. The first is the welfare of the horses themselves, they are not designed
to be tethered or roam around on the highway or wasteland, they require a great deal of care and
attention and those that keep them in this manner are not responsible owners.

"Secondly there is the danger to the public should horses roam loose in Swansea as pedestrians
and motorists can be injured by a loose horse. As an authority we are not required by law to
prevent horses from roaming around, but in order to prevent injury or death to the horses and
public alike we have a dedicated team dealing with a problem caused by the irresponsible few."

The RSPCA also receives complaints regarding the welfare of horses in the area. RSPCA chief
inspector, Romain de Kerckhove said: "Many of the horses are being kept on waste and common
land and left to fend for themselves. Their owners often take little or no interest in their wellbeing
and should an animal fall sick or become lame their injuries are left untreated.

"Irresponsible ownership and indiscriminate breeding are central to the problem and if we are
going to prevent further suffering itis important that mares and stallions are kept apart and that
these horses receive the care and attention they deserve. As with any animal, horse owners need to
take their responsibilities seriously."

FOSH (May 2015) Pag§842



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Appendix 2 — Public spaces protection orders
Section 59 Anti-social behaviour, Crime and Policing Act, 2014.

The Act states the following :
‘Public spaces protection orders
59 Power to make orders

(1) A local authority may make a public spaces protection order if satisfied on
reasonable grounds that two conditions are met.

(2) The first condition is that—

(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have had a
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area and that
they will have such an effect.

(3) The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities—

(a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature,

(b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and

(c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.

(4) A public spaces protection order is an order that identifies the public place
referred to in subsection (2) (‘the restricted area”) and—

(a) prohibits specified things being done in the restricted area,

(b) requires specified things to be done by persons carrying on specified activities in
that area, or

(c) does both of those things.

(5) The only prohibitions or requirements that may be imposed are ones that are
reasonable to impose in order—

(a) to prevent the detrimental effect referred to in subsection (2) from continuing,
occurring or recurring, or

(b) to reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance,
occurrence or recurrence.

(6) A prohibition or requirement may be framed—

(a) so as to apply to all persons, or only to persons in specified categories, or to all
persons except those in specified categories;

(b) so as to apply at all times, or only at specified times, or at all times except those
specified;

(c) so as to apply in all circumstances, or only in specified circumstances, or in all
circumstances except those specified.

(7) A public spaces protection order must—

(a) identify the activities referred to in subsection (2);

(b) explain the effect of section 63 (where it applies) and section 67;
(c) specify the period for which the order has effect.

(8) A public spaces protection order must be published in accordance with
regulations made by the Secretary of State.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 43
39


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-2

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

60 Duration of orders

(1) A public spaces protection order may not have effect for a period of more than 3
years, unless extended under this section.

(2 ) Before the time when a public spaces protection order is due to expire, the local
authority that made the order may extend the period for which it has effect if satisfied
on reasonable grounds that doing so is necessary to prevent—

(a) occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the order, or
(b) an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that time.

(3) An extension under this section—

(a) may not be for a period of more than 3 years;

(b) must be published in accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State.
(4) A public spaces protection order may be extended under this section more than
once.

61 Variation and discharge of orders

(1) Where a public spaces protection order is in force, the local authority that made
the order may vary it—

(a) by increasing or reducing the restricted area;

(b) by altering or removing a prohibition or requirement included in the order, or
adding a new one.

(2) A local authority may make a variation under subsection (1)(a) that results in the
order applying to an area to which it did not previously apply only if the conditions in
section 59(2) and (3) are met as regards activities in that area.

(3) A local authority may make a variation under subsection (1)(b) that makes a
prohibition or requirement more extensive, or adds a new one, only if the prohibitions
and requirements imposed by the order as varied are ones that section 59(5) allows
to be imposed.

(4) A public spaces protection order may be discharged by the local authority that
made it.

(5) Where an order is varied, the order as varied must be published in accordance
with regulations made by the Secretary of State.

(6) Where an order is discharged, a notice identifying the order and stating the date
when it ceases to have effect must be published in accordance with regulations
made by the Secretary of State’.[End of extract]

Comment
There is ‘Statutory Guidance’ to local authorities associated with the Act?®.

Councils wishing to enact a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) must consult
only with the police, and ‘whatever community representatives the local authority
thinks it appropriate to consult’. This means, in effect, that local authorities may
consult groups if they want to, but there is no statutory obligation for them to have a
consultation period, to consult affected groups, or to consider objections. However, it
is likely as a matter of good process that a Council would in practice seek to do this.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 44
40


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-61-1-a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-3
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-61-1-b
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/part/4/chapter/2/crossheading/public-spaces-protection-orders/enacted#section-59-5

Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

Appendix 3 - Council costs incurred in collecting, impounding and disposing
of horses

Friends of Swansea Horses has obtained, through Freedom of Information Act
requests, information on costs that Swansea City and County Council has incurred in
dealing with horse-related incidents. These costs relate to responding to complaints,
collecting horses, impounding them, feeding them, euthanizing and disposing of
carcases, and costs associated with identification including passporting and
microchipping, prior to rehoming. The costs have been supplied by the authority in
most cases as ‘average costs per horse’.

An estimate of the total direct expenditure by the Council for 2014 (i.e. January 1%
2014 to December 315t 2014) is given below.

Council officer rates assumed, as provided by FOI, are: ‘normal hours’, £11.25 per
hour; ‘out of hours’ (i.e. evenings and Saturdays), £11.25 x 1.33 i.e. £14.96 per hour;
‘Sundays’, £11.25 x 1.50, i.e. £16.88 per hour.

Total number of horses seized by the authority during 2014 225
o Number of seized horses reclaimed by owners 46
¢ Number of seized horses to rescue 106
e Number of horses euthanised 69
e Unspecified 4

Note: figures below are based on 221 horses, those for which action taken is known.
Figures therefore represent a slight underestimate for horses dealt with.

1 Cost of collection of horses

Assumes 2.5 officer hours average per horse @ 11.25 per hour
221 horses x 2.5 hours x £11.25 per hour £6215.63

2 Cost of keeping impounded horses

Assumes each horse is kept for 7 days.

Note: the response to FOI requests states that horses are ‘often kept longer’'.
However, those ‘reclaimed’ may not be kept as long, so 7 days is a reasonable
average. Horses kept require to be monitored every day i.e. Monday to Sunday.

Average Council officer hours per day attendance at pound while horses are
impounded, as supplied by the Council, is 3 hours. Assuming 365 day per year
coverage as horses may be impounded at any time throughout the year, estimated
staff costs for the keeping of impounded horses are shown below:

Cost of keeping impounded horses

261 weekdays x 3 x £11.25 £8808.75
52 Saturdays x 3 x £14.96 £2333.76
52 Sundays x 3 x £16.88 £2633.28
Sub-total £13775.79

FOSH (May 2015) Page 45
41



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

3 Costs of identification prior to rehoming or sale

Additional costs, including primarily microchipping and passporting, £7355.00
per annum for all horses formally identified by the Council

4 Costs associated with euthanasia

69 horses euthanised in 2014. Costs per horse: vet call out £37.50; vet euthanasia:
£41.00; carcase disposal : £150.00. Total cost per horse = £228.50

69 horses x £228.50 £15766.50

5 Costs of logging complaints

664 horse-related incident complaints were made to the Council
In 2014. assuming per incident administration time (eg logging etc)
of 15 minutes and Council officer time @ £11.25 per hour.

664 calls x 0.25 hours x £11.25 per hour £1867.50

6 Transport-related on-costs

The FOI responses supplied by the Council refer to certain on-costs associated with
the collection and transport of horses though these amounts are not provided. Costs
referred to include vehicle hire, petrol and insurance.

225 horses were collected by the Council. Assuming an average of 2 horses
collected per event, then 113 separate trips will have been made.

Assuming an average round trip distance of 12 miles for each collection purely for the
purposes of estimation, then 1356 miles will have been covered. At 20 per mile fuel
for a 3.5 ton vehicle (petrol alone)?® ,this amounts to £271.20.

For a Council-owned 3.5 ton vehicle capable of transporting 2 horses annual
depreciation would be about £7,000.00, insurance about £1300.00 and tax about
£220.00%°. There will additionally be maintenance costs, tyre costs etc.

Hire of a 3.5 ton horse transport capable of transporting 2 horses would be about
£100.00 per day.

Total annual transport costs assuming Council-owned 3.5 ton
horse transporter and excluding maintenance costs:

£271.20 + £7000.00 + £1300.00 + £220.00 £8791.20
Total annual transport costs assuming hire of 3.5 ton horse

transporter on 100 occasions (assuming insurance included in

hire price):

£10,000.00 + £271.20 £10271.20

FOSH (May 2015) Page 46
42



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

7 Money recouped in fees

The amount of £4000.00 was recouped by the Council in fees charged to horse
owners.

8 Total minimum annual estimated Council direct costs for responding to
horse-related incidents in 2014.

Total minimum annual estimated Council direct costs for
responding to horse-related incidents in 2014

Cost of collection of horses £6215.63
Cost of keeping impounded horses £13775.79
Costs of identification prior to rehoming or sale £7355.00
Costs associated with euthanasia £15766.50
Costs of logging complaints £1867.50
Transport-related on-costs £8791.20
Total minimum direct cost to Council - Gross £53771.62
Minus money recouped in fees - £4000.00
Total minimum direct cost to Council - Net £49771.62

These costs do not include costs incurred by the Police, the Fire Service or the
Highways Authority in responding to horse-related incidents. These may be
significant.

8 Council costs saved by Sanctuary action

In May 2014, following an intervention by Friends of Swansea Horses a link between
the Swansea City and County Council and Hillside Animal Sanctuary was
established. Since that date, almost all unclaimed horses seized by the Council have
been transferred to the Sanctuary. This relates to the vast majority of the 106 horses
recorded by the Council as being ‘rehomed’ during 2014. Since the average costs of
euthanasia and carcase disposal are £228.50 per horse, it is estimated that Hillside
Animal Sanctuary in 2014 saved the authority:

Council expenditure that would otherwise have been incurred
without intervention of Hillside Animal Sanctuary

106 horses x £228.50 £24221.00
This amount may reasonably be added to the real direct costs

to the authority created by horse-related incidents in 2014:

£49771.62 + £24221.00 £73992.00

FOSH (May 2015) Page 47
43



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

9 Costs created for the receiving sanctuary.

The costs of transport of horses to the Sanctuary are significant at approximately
£750.00 for every 10 horses transported (personal communication from Hillside
Animal Sanctuary) This amounts to c. £7,500.00 for 2014. These costs have been
met entirely by Hillside Animal Sanctuary and there has been no offer from the
Council to contribute to these costs. The Sanctuary incurs ongoing care costs
estimated at £2,000.00 per annum per horse. This is throughout the remaining life of
the horse which may be many years. The taking on of over 100 horses from
Swansea in 2014 will therefore have imposed costs on the Sanctuary of in excess of
£200,000.00 per annum. These costs are met by the public through donations.

FOSH (May 2015) Page 48
44



Round and Round: Tethered Horses in Swansea

G{ Swa-ﬂSEﬂ Hﬂ'
A B o014 e
‘Q'G F.O.5 H J‘

Putting Horses First

FOSH (May 2015) Page 49
45



Friends of Swansea Horses
P.O. Box

65

Lampeter

SA48 9BJ

FOSH2014@outlook.com

Page 50
FOSH (May 2015) 46


mailto:FOSH2014@outlook.com

&

CiTy AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE

To/ gfgfﬁfviﬁ f;:] Scrutiny

Councillor Mark Child DirectLine:

Cabinet Member - Wellbeing and Llinell Uniongyrochol: 01792 637257

Healthy City e-Malil scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk
e-Bost:

Councillor Christine Richards gitr']fg;f WG/2015-16/TH

Cabinet Member - Services for

Children and Young People (Deputy Eﬁ:ﬂg)ﬁf
Leader D i

) Date 20 April 2016
BY EMAIL

Summary : This is a letter from the Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group to the
Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Healthy City and the Cabinet Member for
Services for Children and Young People (Deputy Leader). It sets out the conclusions
and recommendations from this working group - set up following a petition calling for
a ban on the tethering of horses on Council land to be enforced.

Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group
Dear Councillor Child and Councillor Richards,
Horses Tethered on Council Land

I am writing to you with the conclusions and recommendations from the
scrutiny working group looking at the issue of horses tethered on council land.
As you know, we have been asked to consider the petition from Friends of
Swansea Horses calling for a ban on this practice to be enforced by the
Council. We have also considered the overall approach to this issue.

I would like to start by expressing our gratitude to those who took the time to
provide evidence and to attend the two public meetings. The organisations
that we heard from were:

* Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH)

» Pettifor Trust

* Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (RSPCA)
e Community Horse and Pony Scheme (CHAPS)

Pag¢ 51



* South Wales Police
e Hillside Animal Sanctuary
» Hartlepool Borough Council

| want to express our thanks also to the members of the public who
contributed and who shared their concerns via email. | want to reassure
those who wrote in that we took time to carefully consider what they told us.

We are also grateful to you Councillor Child and to Dave Picken from Trading
Standards for contributing.

We have produced an evidence pack from our work and this can be found on
the scrutiny section of the Council’s website. We hope that this will be useful,
both to show the detailed evidence that our conclusions are based on, but
also as a resource for any work going forward.

The remainder of this letter summarises our conclusions. Our
recommendations can be found at the end.

1. Horse welfare is the common concern

Our starting point, and the starting point for everyone that we spoke to, is that
the suffering of many horses kept on tethers on Council land is not
acceptable. We heard enough examples of neglect and cruelty to convince
us that the current situation cannot be allowed to continue and that something
needs to be done.

2. This is a complex and challenging issue

Throughout the process of collecting evidence we were aware that this is a
difficult issue and that easy answers will not be found.

The Councils current approach is to ensure that statutory responsibilities are
met in respect of animal welfare and officers will deal with cases as they
become aware of them. Actions include seeking to ensure that owners are
acting responsibly, assessing the condition of horses and impounding horses
where necessary. Signs are also put up at ‘hotspot’ locations to make it clear
that the practice is not permitted.

Officers seek to be proactive where they can and we want to thank them for
the work that they are doing. We note that this is not a statutory duty for the
Council in the same way as other animal issues e.g. dogs. Nevertheless, the
approach is addressing symptoms rather than causes and there is little sign
that the problems associated with tethering are going to reduce. As the
Cabinet Member confirmed to us, this is a challenging issue - one that the
Council is only able ‘to keep a lid on’.

Pagg 52



3. There are strong arguments in favour of implem  enting and
enforcing a ban

The petition, along with the emails we received and the evidence from FOSH
and from the Pettifor Trust, shows that there is strong public support for
implementing a ban on the tethering of horses on public land.

A comprehensive case was put to us by FOSH in which they detailed not just
the serious welfare issues that can accompany this practice, but other
problems such as loss of public amenity, the potential for community conflict
and the poor image that it creates for Swansea.

As a working group we do not believe that Council land is suitable for the
tethering of horses, however well the animals are cared for, nor do we believe
that people should be allowed to use Council land in this way.

We also heard from FOSH that the Council, by allowing this practice, was
permitting a problem cycle to continue. A phased ban, on the other hand,
undertaken as part of a proactive partnership approach, could not only
address the immediate animal welfare problems but also break a costly cycle.
Currently the Council have to spend significant amounts of money dealing
with cases of neglect and cruelty by impounding the affected horses.

The evidence we heard about how other Councils such as Hartlepool Borough
Council have tackled this issue gives us some confidence that an enforced
ban, if managed correctly, can be effective.

4. There are also strong arguments against implem  enting and
enforcing a ban

The first argument against implementing a ban is that it is neither practical nor
affordable. We heard from the Trading Standards Officer that while there are
simply too many horses to implement a zero tolerance approach across the
City and County of Swansea, we should be concerned about the cost
implications of any new activity in this area. Given the serious financial
challenges facing the Council we cannot take these financial concerns lightly
for any additional money spent on this issue means taking resources away
from other services. We are also concerned that the fate of impounded
horses should a ban be enforced is unclear and that many would need to be
euthanised.

A second argument is that a ban would not be effective. We heard evidence
from CHAPS that a ban might be counterproductive in terms of horse welfare
that horses could be kept in unsuitable stables such as garden sheds and that
mistreated horses would no longer be visible to be helped. CHAPS also
argued that, given the very low cost of buying horses (sometimes as little as
£10), owners would have no difficulty in replacing any horses impounded.
Enforcement would be made easier if negligent owners could be prosecuted

Pagg 53



for mistreating horses however, as we heard from the RSPCA, proving
ownership is extremely difficult. While we were not fully convinced by the
evidence presented we nevertheless recognise that these are risks that must
be taken seriously.

A third argument, also put to us by CHAPS is that, by enforcing a ban, the
Council would be damaging a well-established culture in Swansea and the
opportunity for many people living in deprived communities to pursue a
positive hobby that might keep them away from crime or drugs. This an
alternative approach that focusses on education rather than enforcement. As
a working group we accept that owning horses has many positive benefits
and, if done properly, can be a positive aspect of community life.

5. There is plenty of common ground between the 0 rganisations we
heard from

All of the organisations we heard from expressed a strong desire to work in
partnership to solve this issue. While there are differences of opinion we
hope that these can be respected as part of a constructive partnership
process. It seems to us that all that is missing is someone to facilitate a
process that will bring together the different resources that are currently being
used and the different knowledge and intelligence that people have. We
believe that there is a great deal to be gained from bringing everyone
together.

In their report to us CHAPS responded to each of the seven points proposed
by FOSH as the basis for action. From this it we can see that there is also
broad agreement about the need for:

» Effective communication and engagement with the public
» Liaison with rescue and rehoming organisations

* Education and support for responsible local horse owners
e The use of Council land to provide regulated grazing

We believe these points should be part of a multi-agency approach going
forward.

6. The way forward is a piloted implementation of the ban that
combines enforcement and education

The main disagreement in the evidence that we heard was between those
who advocated an enforcement led approach and those proposing that
community education should be front and centre.

We believe as a working group that solving this problem will require finding

the best balance between both. While we would like to see responsible horse
owning encouraged and supported we are also of the view that a small

Pagg 54



minority will continue to act irresponsibly regardless of any education
measures put in place. An element of enforcement will therefore be required.

In any case it is clear to us that he current situation cannot be allowed to
continue.

Given the complexities, risks and costs involved, however, we propose that
the Council facilitates a pilot scheme in one area of Swansea. This pilot
scheme should be for a ban to be implemented following a delay of six
months after announcement. Six months should provide time to work with
responsible owners, ensure registration arrangements are in place and find
suitable alternative grazing. We would like to see this alternative grazing
limited to a manageable number of horses and to those owners who live in the
pilot area.

Following the six month delay, we expect that agencies will work together to
enforce the ban according to an agreed protocol following the Hartlepool
model. We would also like to see additional steps taken to involve the public
including a single point of contact that can be used.

We suggest that area for the pilot should be decided by the partnership group
who will no doubt want to consider somewhere that amenities are already in
place or can be easily established.

We understand that this will not happen quickly enough for everyone
however, it is important that a new approach is given a chance to operate.

We also believe that this issue presents a clear opportunity for an ‘invest to
save’ approach and that the Cabinet Member seeks additional resources for
the pilot as required on this basis.

Once the pilot has ended it should be reviewed by the Cabinet Member with a
presumption that the approach, given any appropriate changes, should be
rolled out across the city on a phased basis.

Recommendations

In consideration of the petition from Friends of Swansea Horses, our
recommendation to the Cabinet Members is that they:

1. Facilitate a partnership pilot scheme in one are  a for a ban delayed
6 months from its announcement.

2. Invite all of the organisations who gave evidenc e to this working
group to participate in the pilot

3. Ensure that the following are addressed as part of the pilot:

a) Effective communication and engagement with the public

Pagg 55



b) A proactive approach to identifying and register ing horses
c) Liaison with rescue and rehoming organisations

d) The use of Council land to provide regulated gra  zing this to
include limited use of public land on a zero tolera nce
approach.

e) A partnership protocol for responding to inciden ts of horse
tethering and ensuring effective enforcement follow ing the
Hartlepool model

f) Education and support for those who wish to own horses
responsibly

g) A single point of contact for the public
4. Seek additional funding for the pilot on an ‘inv  est to save’ basis

5. Roll out the partnership approach on a phased ba  sis across
Swansea taking into account any lessons learnt from the pilot

Your Response

In your reply we would be happy to hear your views on any of the issues we
have raised and whether you agree or disagree with the recommendations
that we have made.

In line with the Council Constitution we expect to receive your response by 11
May at which point it will be published on the scrutiny pages of the Council
website.

As a working group we may reconvene to check progress with you. In
addition the issue may well be raised as part of the Scrutiny Programme
Committee’s regular Q&As with Cabinet Members.

| look forward to hearing from you.

Yours sincerely,

1
|

COUNCILLOR JEFF JONES
CONVENER
cllr.jeff.jones@swansea.gov.uk

Pagg 56



&"((-,

b

CiTY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

DiNAS A SIR ABERTAWE

Councillor Jeff Jones Please ask for: Councillor Mark Child
Gofynnwch am: .
Convenor _ Direct Line: (01792) 637441
Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working S ,
Uniongyrochol:
Group
E-Mail / E-Bost. clir.mark.child@swansea.gov.uk
Qur Ref/ Ein Cyf: MC/CM
Your Ref/ Eich
Cyf:
Date / Dyddia: 10th May 2016

To receive this information in alternative format, please contact the above.
| dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall, cysylltwch &'r person uchod.

Dear Councillor Jones
TETHERED HORSES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP

Thank you for your letter of the 20™ April 2016 detailing the work completed to date by
the Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group.

| am aware that this is a subject that has divided opinion and that there are a number of
passionate groups who are committed to horse welfare having competing demands.
For that reason | think we should have a fuller understanding of the issues and be clear
about the responsibilities of the Council before investing resources in a pilot scheme

Before raising expectations via any scheme, we need to be clear about:
¢ The availability of an area of land and any existing plans the Council has for it
¢ Any planning requirements that would have to be met

If these issues can be resolved further fundamental questions about any pilot will
require clarity including:
e Who will finance the development of the land to provide the essential basic
facilities?
How much will it cost? 7
Who will be responsible for horses on this land particularly if owners lose interest
and abandon them?

COUNCILLOR/Y CYNGHORYDD
MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY /
AELOD Y CABINET LLES A DINAS IACH

CABINET OFFICE, THE GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE
SwYDDFA'R CABINET, NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE

= (01792) 637441
B4 clir. mark.child@swansea.gov.uk  www.swansea.gov.uk

Page 57



CiTY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE

How will places be allocated?

How will the success of any scheme be measured?

What charges will be levied, collected and recovered in the case of default?
Who would be responsible for horses in the event that a pilot scheme failed?

| am unable to support an invest to save scheme until any scheme is more clearly
defined and potential savings as a result of the investment identified.

May | suggest that further evidence is required related to a range of issues and that the
numerous potential problems are fully explored before any additional commitment is
made by the Council.

Thank you again for your considerable efforts so far in relation to this subject. | look
-forward.to- hearing from you again once your working group has had the opportunity to
consider the complex issues | have raised above.

Officers will continue to take a proactive approach to the identification of horses and
their owners. In addition | have asked them to meet contributors to the working group in
order to:
» Use existing resources to develop an education/communication pack about
horse welfare, tethering  and the responsibilities of owners or keepers
¢ develop and communicate an agreed system for reporting horse welfare issues
to the Council, the RSPCA or other welfare organisations

Yours sincerely

7 A

COUNCILLOR MARK CHILD _
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY

COUNCILLOR/Y CYNGHORYDD
MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY /
AELOD Y CABINET LLES A DINAS IACH

CABINET OFFICE, THE GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE
SWYDDFA'R CABINET, NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE

: = (01792) 637441
B clir.mark.child@swansea.gov.uk  www.swansea.gov.uk

Page 58



&

CiTy AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE

To/ (F;Iease asl}(1 for:. Scrutiny

Councillor Mark Child covch am

Cabinet Member - Wellbeing and Llinell Uniongyrochol: 01792 637257

Healthy City e-l\B/lail scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk
e-Bost:

cc gitr‘]f CR;f WG/2015-16/TH2

Councillor Christine Richards Your Réf

Cabinet Member - Services for Eich Cyf:

Children and Young People (Deputy pate 20 June 2016

Leader) Dyddiad:

BY EMAIL

Summary : This is a letter from the Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group to the
Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Healthy City. It sets out the expected next steps.

Dear Councillor Child,
TETHERED HORSES SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP

Thank you for your letter of 10 May 2016 and for agreeing to meet informally
with us to discuss its contents.

As you know, we were disappointed with your response to our conclusions
and recommendations but, having discussed the matter with you more fully,
we are pleased to hear about the positive steps that are to be taken.

| am also pleased to note that, in principle, you are happy with the approach
that we have proposed. Clearly there are issues that need to be resolved
before a pilot project can go ahead and many of these are set out in your
letter. This is a complex and challenging issue and we appreciate that you
need to proceed carefully given the financial challenge that the Council faces.

The group was happy to hear that you plan to meet with all interested groups
to discuss the viability of a pilot. During our work on this issue we were struck
by the commitment shown by everyone we heard from to work together so |
am sure that there will be a willingness to find answers to the questions that
you have raised. We will be happy to direct anyone who wishes to be
involved directly to you.

Pag¢ 59



We all share a concern for the welfare of horses and a commitment to
resolving the problems associated with the tethering of horses on council
land. As a group, therefore, we hope that a way forward can be found. We
will await developments with interest.

While we do not expect an immediate response to this letter we are keen to
review progress in future. We would therefore ask that you write to me in the
coming months on progress that has been made. The Scrutiny Programme
Committee will retain an interest as part of its work plan and will no doubt
raise this issue as part of your regular annual Q&A session with them.

Yours sincerely,

COUNCILLOR JEFF JONES
CONVENER
cllr.jeff.jones@swansea.gov.uk

Pagg 60



Extract from letter from Scrutiny Programme Committee to Cabinet Member
Mark Child on 27th July 2016

Tethered Horses

We had received written questions from a member of the public in relation to
the recent Tethered Horses Scrutiny Working Group and your response to
that work. The questions were from Mr David Grimsell, on behalf of Friends of
Swansea Horses, who was concerned about the amount of horses kept on
public spaces, particularly Council land, without authorisation, with many kept
tethered and suffering poor welfare. The questions were accompanied by
comments about the number of horses that have had to be seized,
impounded and destroyed by the Council, and complaints that are made to
the Council about horse welfare and management issues. He wanted the
committee to ask you:

e how is it that the Council presumes to do nothing and to continue with a
reactive approach that has proved entirely ineffective in addressing the

needs of the horses and the concerns of the community that has allowed
these problems to continue year-in year-out without change?

e how is it that it presumes to disregard the recommendations of the
‘Tethered Horses Working Group’ for fundamental change?

You provided some assurance to the committee that you are keen to meet
with all interested groups in order to make progress, but drew attention to
financial pressures on the service that may affect possible investment to deal
with this issue. You pointed out that improved partnership working has already
seen a big fall in the number of stray horses having to be put down.

You told us that a full written answer would be sent to Mr Grimsell, and copied
to Members of the Committee. We note that you have already done so.

One of the issues discussed during the Working Group had been signage put
up by the council at hotspots in Swansea deterring people from tethering
horses. Members understood that signage was in place however this was
called into question by some committee members, for example in
Mynyddbach. We asked you to check on this matter.

Extract from response letter from Cabinet Member Mark Child to Scrutiny
Programme Committee on 17th Auqust 2016

Tethered Horses

Notices have been placed at the site known locally as the racecourse in Penlan as a
trial. Four notices were placed at the site at points where roads intersected. Three of
the four had gone by the following morning. Currently more permanent adhesives
are being investigated for these notices up so that they are more difficult to remove.
Notices will be placed at all known locations when the next planned inspection is
undertaken which is scheduled to take place during week commencing 15" August
2016.

Page 61



Friends of Swansea Horses

P.O. Box 65
Lampeter
Cardigan
SA48 9BJ
FOSH2014@outlook.com

The Leader of the Council and all

Cabinet Members

City and County of Swansea Council

Civic Centre

Oystermouth Road

Swansea

SA1 3SN 12 July 2016

Dear Councillor Stewart and Cabinet Members,

1 There have been major horse welfare and management issues for horses occurring
across Swansea for decades. This has primarily included the unauthorised use of
public spaces, particularly Council land, for the fly-grazing of horses by individuals
who do not have the resources to keep horses. Many such horses are kept tethered for
lengthy periods, in breach of requirements of the Animal Welfare Act and suffer very
poor welfare.

2 The Council approach, as adopted by the Trading Standards Department, has been
an entirely reactive one that has failed effectively to address problems and allowed
them to continue unabated year-in, year-out. The failure to address these issues in an
intelligent, proactive and effective way has meant that many hundreds of horses have
experienced sustained suffering. They have, moreover, often been exposed to abuse.

3 Each year the authority seizes large numbers of horses and impounds them. In the
period, 1st April 2013 to 30" November 2015, 553 horses were seized — an average of
198 per year. The majority of these horses are unclaimed. In the past, the authority,
has simply euthanised most of these - between 2012 and 2014, 224 horses were
euthanised. Subsequent to May 2014, after a link was set up following an intervention
by Friends of Swansea Horses, over 250 horses have now instead gone to Hillside
Animal Sanctuary. A much better outcome but still a massive demand imposed on this
very kind and generous organisation. The cost of care of these horses, likely several
hundred thousand pounds per year, is met by the public who respect the horse’s lives.

4 The Council receives year-in, year-out large numbers of complaints or ‘service
requests’ in relation to horse issues. The Cabinet Member for Well-being and a
Healthy City’s own ‘Overview Report’ to the Scrutiny Tethered Horses Working
Group shows that between 1st April 2013 to 30 November 2015 there were 1,744
service requests related to horses — an average of 623 per year. Considerable financial
costs are incurred by the Council, likely in excess of £75,000.00 per year, as well as
costs imposed on the Police and other agencies.

5 The local community has expressed widespread concern, frustration and disgust
concerning the keeping of horses in poor conditions on public spaces across Swansea.

Page 62


mailto:FOSH2014@outlook.com

FOSH submitted a 2,000 signature petition calling for a ban on tethering of horses on
such spaces. Earlier a 1,000 post-card campaign had been mounted to the Leader of
the Council. In 2007, the Pettifor Trust submitted a similar petition of 1700
signatures. The problems and public concern carries on year-in, year-out. The local
community suffers loss of public amenity, risk, and quite often intimidation if
objections are raised to horses being inappropriately kept. Were accident associated
with horses kept on Council land to occur, then the Council is potentially liable.

6 The recently convened Scrutiny Tethered Horses Working Group, under the
Chairmanship of Councillor Jeff Jones considered the detailed evidence Friends of
Swansea Horses had provided and much else. It recommended that a pilot scheme be
introduced to prohibit the unauthorised keeping of horses in one area of Swansea,
with a six-month lead time and notice period. This had the potential to communicate
clearly that public spaces were not to be used for the keeping of horses, with the
potential to start to end the repetitive cycle of horses being obtained cheaply, placed
on land as free-livery, neglected, seized, and then replaced.

7 But, the recommendations were dismissed out of hand by the Cabinet Member for
Well-being and Healthy City, seemingly in complete disregard of all of the evidence
outlined above. The reason, purportedly that the costs of provision of public land for
licensed grazing would be prohibitive and had not been ‘thought through’. Yet, the
proposal by the Tethered Horses Working Group for use of licensed grazing was an
ancillary one, and not core to the principle of communicating and enforcing an end to
the assumption that horses can be kept on public spaces without authorisation. What is
essential is that the presumed use of such spaces is ended. Effective communication
by the authority and enforcement of this principle with suitable notice is essential to
change the context. There is no ‘right’ to public grazing provision, but such facilities
may be supportive of a transition to this, and might be provided on a high-welfare
contract basis, to suitable owners. The Leader of the Council has stated that, ‘The
Council do not give permission for public land to be used for keeping of horses
whether tethered or not’ (Rob Stewart, 2014). Yet, this is entirely at odds with the
reality of what continues to be allowed and to widely occur.

8 The issue of ‘Council’ costs is an interesting one. As indicated above, by the failure
of Swansea to address its horse management and welfare issues massive financial
costs are imposed on others — essentially members of the public. The sanctuary has
taken on over 250 horses since May 2014. Since most of these would previously have
been euthanised, this has directly saved the Council likely in excess of £50,000 in
euthanasia costs alone (average cost of euthanasia from Council figures: £228.50 for
vet call out, euthanasia and carcase disposal.). The sanctuary has also taken on all of
the transport costs, which are very substantial — not a hint of Council contribution or
support for this. It is not O.K. for the Council to avoid relevant expenditure and
consequently impose very significant financial costs on others.

9 The policy and practice of the authority to date has effectively been determined
entirely by relevant officers. There has been a policy vacuum within which officers
have operated. No thought for the issue or effective guiding policy has ever been
produced by elected members or the Cabinet in particular. Officers have, in this
limbo, for years presumed to adopt a reactive approach, astonishingly never stepping
back to consider how the sustained and repetitive problems might be effectively

Page 63



prevented or shown any initiative to do so. No coherent intervention or sustained
multi-agency working has occurred, despite claims by officers to the contrary.
Periodic liaison with other agencies in response to specific incidents does not
constitute meaningful multi-agency working, which requires to be sustained and
planful to be effective. Evidence was provided to the Scrutiny Working Group of the
practice of other authorities, including particularly that of Hartlepool Borough
Council which has had similar horse-related problems but has intervened effectively
to address these. It has been claimed by authority officers that Swansea already adopts
similar practices, but this is false. The approach of Hartlepool has been sustained and
focused. It has been successful but the ad hoc approach adopted by Swansea has not.

10 In the last two years that Friends of Swansea Horses has campaigned on the issue
of tethered and fly-grazed horses on public spaces in Swansea, we have been met with
the same repetitive, defensive response by the authority. While all evidence clearly
indicates that ‘more of the same’ is the last thing that is needed, given the continued
occurrence of the problems for many years if not decades, the response of the
authority has been, defensively, ‘we’re doing everything we should’. This is weak,
fails to acknowledge the horse welfare issues, fails to acknowledge the concerns of
the community and fails to be responsible in relation to use of Council resources.

11 Friends of Swansea Horses has been particularly concerned that the Scrutiny
process has been treated with disregard by the Cabinet Member for Well-being and
Healthy City. It has appeared to us that at no point was he open-minded about the
issue, but from the first presumed to adopt the position provided to him by relevant
officers. His response, as that of Trading Officers too, has been patronising and
unconcerned with the detailed and thorough evidence provided of the harms of failing
to intervene in a planful and constructive manner.

12 The Cabinet should not disregard this matter. At the moment it appears, yet again,
that nothing is to be done. This is not good enough. First and foremost the horses
deserve better. So does the community affected by the abuse of these public spaces.
Friends of Swansea Horses’ estimate is that about 250 horses are currently kept
inappropriately on public spaces across Swansea. We believe that probably only about
50 or so individuals are responsible for these. Can it really be the case that the City
and County of Swansea Council is too weak to challenge these?

13 We look forward to a reasoned, coherent and proactive policy from the Cabinet
that will effectively address these long-standing problems, protecting the interests of
the horses and the community, rather than avoiding them.

Thank you.

Yours sincerely,

David Grimsell
On behalf of Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH)

cc Councillor Jeff Jones, Convenor Tethered Horses Working Group

Members of Tethered Horses Working Group
Councillor Mary Jones, Chair, Scrutiny Programmes Committee

Page 64



CiITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
DiNAs A SIR ABERTAWE

Mr David Grimselt o g’:;f]‘f;z',‘] it Councillor Mark Chitd
Friends of Swansea Horses (FOSH) Direct Line: (01792) 637441
PO Box 65 e
Uniongyrochel:
Lampeter _
Cardi gan E-Mail / E-Bost: cIIr.mark.child@swansea.gov.uk
Qur Ref / Ein Cyf: MC/SH
SA48 9BJ _Your Ref / Eich
Cyf:
Date / Dyddiad: 19 July 2016

To receive this information in alternative format, please contact the above.
| dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall, cysylitwch a’r person uchod.

Dear Mr. Grimsell

Thank you for your observations related to horses being kept without permission on
public land. | am taking the opportunity to reply to your correspondence of 12" July
2016 and the questions you posed via the Cabinet Scrutiny Meeting on 11" July 2016

| am continuing to determine a process that can implement some of the
recommendations of the scrutiny panel including the feasibility of a pilot scheme. Once
this is concluded | will be asking Officers to meet with contributors to the scrutiny
process in order to obtain their assistance provided we can establish a scheme that is
practical and workable. The most recent letter in the scrutiny process can be found at
http://www.swansea.qgov. uk/article/26750/Tethered-Horses-Working-Group-L etter-to-
Cabinet-member-20-June-2016

In response to your specific statements contained in your letter | would comment as
follows: )

The Council uses resources which include Trading Standards and Animal Wardens who
deal with issues presented by stray and unclaimed animals including horses

Our approach is not entirely reactive as you suggest as we have worked with partners
to improve identification and to reduce numbers.

COUNCILLOR/Y CYNGHORYDD
MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY/
AELOD Y CABINET LLES A DINAS IACH

CABINET OFFICE, THE GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE
SWYDDFA'R CABINET, NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE

© T (01792) 637441
ﬁc||r_mark_chud@swansea.gov.uk www.swansea.gov.uk

Page 65



CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE

22

We are continuing to identify alternative interventions and will seek to include
contributors to the scrutiny process as part of this. | expect Officers will be in a position
to involve interested groups in this within the next few weeks.

The relationship with Hillside Sanctuary has been positive. We have acknowledged the
role played by FOSH in creating this opportunity to use this facility. We have been
pleased to receive their continued reassurance about their capacity to cope with the
horses from Swansea. We are discussing re-homing capacity with other organisations
to reduce the effect on Hillside but our stated aim is to make owners responsible for
their .own..animals. which includes finding somewhere appropriate to keep it with the
permission of the land owner.

We record all service requests that are received irrespective of the subject and whether
we have a statutory duty for that subject. There is no statutory duty for horses other that
their identification. Our commitment not to ignore this subject is demonstrated by the
figures you have quoted. We are always seeking improved solutions particularly those
that will reduce cost.

Your petition has been dealt with in accordance with Council Policy and an alternative
petition which seeks tolerance of continued use of Council land for horses, which was
also supported by a local community, has been dealt with in the same way.

The Council does not give permission for public land to be used for the keeping of
horses. This is made clear to individuals directly and to the public more widely by way
of public statement. If a practical pilot scheme can be established a communication
strategy will be part of it.

Additional public money is not made available for this purpose. The Control of Horses
(Wales Act 2014 was provided as a power for Councils but is not a statutory duty and
no resources were allocated when it was enacted.

COUNCILLOR/Y CYNGHORYDD
MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY /
AELOD Y CABINET LLES A DINAS IACH

CABINET OFFICE, THE GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE
SWYDDFA'R CABINET, NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE

TP (01792) 637441 -
B4 cilr.mark child@swansea.gov.uk  www .swansea.gov.uk

Page 66



CiTYy AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA
DiINAsSs A SIR ABERTAWE

53

The Council continues to work with RSPCA in respect of this subject. Both of our
organisations have taken action ranging from advice and provision of information
through to prosecution and banning orders. We are considering the use of notices but
at present do not consider that engaging external contractors in the manner that
Hartlepool have is the best use of public resources

Thank you for your observations. As already stated, the scrutiny process has not been
disregarded. | regret that you have found the response of Council Officers to be
patronising and | will draw your feelings to their attention. Your estimates of numbers
are.interesting. - Our evidence suggests that the figures.are.about 50 not all of which. are
tethered but | see little value in disagreeing over numbers when what we are all seeking
is an improved solution. Please expect to hear from Officers in the near future to
discuss how FOSH may participate in reducing tethering on council land.

Yours sincerely

COUNCILLOR MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY

COUNCILLOR/Y CYNGHORYDD
MARK CHILD
CABINET MEMBER FOR WELLBEING & HEALTHY CITY /
AELOD Y CABINET LLES A DINAS IACH

CaABINET OFFICE, THE GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE
SWYDDFA'R CABINET, NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE

o B (01792) 637441
B clir.mark.child@swansea.gov.uk www.swansea.gov.uk

Page 67



	Agenda
	4 Tethered Horses Update
	6 Background Reading
	1 - Tethered_Horses_Letter to CM 20.4.16
	2 - Response from CM 10.5.16
	3 - Tethered_Horses Letter to CM 20.6.16
	4 - Extracts from SPC Letter and CM Mark Child response
	6 - Letter to Cabinet from DG
	7 - Response to DG of FOSH from MC


